DALEEN TECHNOLOGIES INC Form PRER14A August 26, 2004

SCHEDULE 14A INFORMATION

Amendment No. 3

PROXY STATEMENT PURSUANT TO SECTION 14(a) OF THE SECURITIES

EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934			
Filed by the Registrant þ			
Filed by a Party other than the Registrant o			
Check the appropriate box:			
 p Preliminary proxy statement o Confidential, for Use of the Commission Only (as permitted by Rule 14a-6(e)(2)) o Definitive proxy statement o Definitive Additional Materials o Soliciting Material Pursuant to Rule 14a-12 			
DALEEN TECHNOLOGIES, INC.			
(Name of Registrant as Specified In Its Charter)			
((Name of Person(s) Filing proxy statement, if other than the Registrant)			
Payment of Filing Fee (Check the appropriate box):			
o No fee required.			
þ Fee computed on table below per Exchange Act Rules 14a-6(i)(1) and 0-11.			
(1) Title of each class of securities to which transaction applies: Daleen Technologies, Inc. Common Stock, par value \$0.01 per share, Daleen Technologies, Inc. Series F Convertible Preferred Stock, par value \$0.01 per share			
(2) Aggregate number of securities to which transaction applies: 46,911,152 shares of Common Stock 449,237 shares of Series F Preferred Stock			
(3) Per unit price or other underlying value of transaction computed pursuant to Exchange Act Rule 0-11 (set forth the amount on which the filing fee is calculated and state how it was determined): For purposes of this transaction, the Common Stock was valued at an aggregate of \$1.8 million, or approximately \$0.0384 per share, and the Series F Preferred Stock was valued at an aggregate of \$15.4 million or approximately \$34.28 per share.			
(4) Proposed maximum aggregate value of transaction: \$17,200,000			
(5) Total fee paid:			

\$3,440

þ	Fee paid pro	eviously with preliminary materials.
o		if any part of the fee is offset as provided by Exchange Act Rule 0-11(a)(2) and identify the filing for which the offsetting fee previously. Identify the previous filing by registration statement number, or the Form or Schedule and the date of its filing.
	(1)	Amount Previously Paid:
	(2)	Form, Schedule or Registration Statement No.:
	(3)	Filing Party:
	(4)	Date Filed:

DALEEN TECHNOLOGIES, INC.

902 Clint Moore Road, Suite 230 Boca Raton, Florida 33487 (561) 999-8000

NOTICE OF SPECIAL MEETING OF STOCKHOLDERS To Be Held on September 24, 2004

To the stockholders of Daleen Technologies, Inc.:

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that a special meeting (the Special Meeting) of the stockholders of Daleen Technologies, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the Company), will be held on September 24, 2004 at 9:00 a.m. local time at the Company s corporate headquarters, 902 Clint Moore Road, Suite 230, Boca Raton, Florida 33487, for the following purposes, as more fully described in the proxy statement accompanying this Notice:

1. To vote on a proposal to approve and adopt the Agreement and Plan of Merger and Share Exchange, dated as of May 7, 2004 (the Merger Agreement), among Daleen Holdings, Inc., a Delaware corporation (Daleen Holdings), Parallel Acquisition, Inc., a Delaware corporation (Parallel Acquisition), the Company, Behrman Capital II, L.P., a Delaware limited partnership (Behrman Capital), and Strategic Entrepreneur Fund II, L.P., a Delaware limited partnership (SEF), pursuant to which (i) Parallel Acquisition, a subsidiary of Daleen Holdings formed for the sole purpose of merging with the Company, will be merged with and into the Company (the Merger), with the Company surviving as a subsidiary of Daleen Holdings and (ii) Behrman Capital and SEF will exchange (the Exchange) all of their shares of the Company s Series F Convertible Preferred Stock, par value \$0.01 per share (Series F Preferred Stock), immediately prior to the completion of the Merger for shares of Daleen Holdings common stock and preferred stock. Behrman Capital, SEF, the other holders of the Company s Common Stock, par value \$0.01 per share (Common Stock), at the effective time of the Merger and the holders of the Company s Series F Preferred Stock upon the Exchange and at the effective time of the Merger would receive an aggregate of \$17.2 million in cash and Daleen Holdings common stock and preferred stock, as more fully described in the accompanying proxy statement, for all of their shares of Common Stock and Series F Preferred Stock.

2. To transact such other business as may properly come before the Special Meeting or any adjournment or adjournments thereof.

Approval and adoption of the Merger Agreement will also constitute approval of the Merger and the other transactions contemplated by the Merger Agreement. A copy of the Merger Agreement is attached as Appendix A to the accompanying proxy statement.

The proposal to be considered at the Special Meeting is described in the accompanying proxy statement. Only holders of record of Common Stock or Series F Preferred Stock at the close of business on August 20, 2004, are entitled to notice of, and to vote at, the Special Meeting. A list of stockholders entitled to vote at the Special Meeting will be available for inspection at the Special Meeting and for a period of ten days prior to the Special Meeting during regular business hours at the Company's corporate headquarters.

The Company s Board of Directors, after consideration and receipt of the unanimous recommendation of a special committee of non-employee directors not affiliated with Behrman Capital, has determined that the Merger Agreement and the Merger and other transactions contemplated by the Merger Agreement are advisable and in the best interests of, and that the merger consideration is fair to, the Company s stockholders, including unaffiliated stockholders. The Company s Board of Directors has approved and recommends that you vote FOR the proposal described above.

All stockholders are cordially invited to attend the Special Meeting in person. Whether or not you expect to attend the Special Meeting, your vote is important. To assure your representation at the Special Meeting, please vote by marking, signing and dating the enclosed proxy and returning it promptly in the enclosed envelope, which requires no additional postage if mailed in the United States. You may revoke your proxy at any time prior to the Special Meeting. If you attend the Special Meeting, your proxy will be revoked only if you specifically request, in which case only your vote at the Special Meeting will count.

By Order of the Board of Directors,

Dawn R. Landry

Corporate Secretary

Boca Raton, Florida, 2004

YOUR VOTE IS VERY IMPORTANT, REGARDLESS OF THE

NUMBER OF SHARES YOU OWN.

Please read the attached proxy statement carefully, complete, sign and date the enclosed proxy card as promptly as possible and return it in the enclosed envelope.

DALEEN TECHNOLOGIES, INC.

902 Clint Moore Road, Suite 230 Boca Raton, Florida 33487 (561) 999-8000

PROXY STATEMENT FOR THE SPECIAL MEETING OF STOCKHOLDERS To Be Held on September 24, 2004

To Our Stockholders:

This proxy statement is furnished to holders of record of Common Stock, par value \$0.01 per share (Common Stock), and holders of record of Series F Convertible Preferred Stock, par value \$0.01 per share (Series F Preferred Stock), of Daleen Technologies, Inc. (the Company) in connection with the solicitation of proxies by the Board of Directors of the Company (the Board of Directors) for use at the special meeting of stockholders to be held on September 24, 2004 (the Special Meeting).

The Special Meeting will be held at the Company s corporate headquarters, 902 Clint Moore Road, Suite 230, Boca Raton, Florida 33487, at 9:00 a.m. local time. This proxy statement and the accompanying proxy card(s) are being mailed to stockholders of record on or about , 2004.

Neither the Securities and Exchange Commission nor any state securities commission has approved or disapproved of this transaction, passed upon the merits or fairness of the transaction or passed upon the adequacy or accuracy of the disclosure in this document. Any representation to the contrary is a criminal offense.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

	Page
SUMMARY TERM SHEET	1
Parties to the Merger and Other Relevant Parties	1
Terms of the Merger	2
Transactions Related to the Merger	5
Special Committee of the Board of Directors	7
Recommendation of the Special Committee and the Board of Directors	7
Opinion of the Financial Advisor	7
Positions of Behrman Capital, SEF, Daleen Holdings, Parallel Acquisition	,
and Gordon Quick as to the Fairness of the Merger	8
Interests of Directors and Officers in the Merger	8
Effects of the Merger	9
Conditions to Completing the Merger	9
<u>Termination</u>	10
Material U.S. Federal Income Tax Consequences	11
Litigation Relating to the Merger	11
Appraisal Rights	11
Required Vote	11
Reservation of Rights	11
Questions	12
QUESTIONS AND ANSWERS ABOUT THE PROXY MATERIALS AND	
THE SPECIAL MEETING	13
FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS	21
SPECIAL FACTORS	22
Parties to the Merger and Other Relevant Parties	22
Background of the Merger	24
Purposes and Reasons for the Merger	33
Consideration of Alternatives	34
Structure of the Merger	34
Recommendation of the Special Committee and the Board of Directors	34
Reasons for the Special Committee s Determination; Fairness of the	
<u>Merger</u>	35
Reasons for the Board of Directors Determination; Fairness of the Merger	41
Positions of Behrman Capital, SEF, Daleen Holdings, Parallel Acquisition	
and Gordon Quick	41
Reasons for Daleen Holdings , Parallel Acquisition s and Gordon Quick s	
<u>Determination</u> ; Fairness of the Merger	42
Reasons for Behrman Capital s, and SEF s Determination; Fairness of the	
<u>Merger</u>	42
Opinion of Valuation Research Corporation	43
Effects of the Merger	50
Plans for the Company	51
Interests of Certain Parties	52
Projections Prepared by the Company	55
Voting Agreements	56
Provisions for Unaffiliated Stockholders	57
Reservation of Rights	57

i

	Page
THE SPECIAL MEETING	58
Date, Time and Place	58
Matters to be Considered	58
Vote Required	58
Record Date, Voting Rights, Quorum and Revocability of Proxies	59
Adjournments and Postponements	59
THE MERGER	60
Effective Time of the Merger	60
Payment of Merger Consideration and Surrender of Stock Certificates	60
Escrow Arrangement	61
Risks That the Merger Will Not Be Completed	62
Merger Financing; Sources of Funds	64
Material U.S. Federal Income Tax Consequences	64
Regulatory Matters	68
Accounting Treatment	68
Estimated Fees and Expenses of the Merger	68
Appraisal Rights	69
THE MERGER AGREEMENT	72
Effective Time of the Merger	72
The Merger	72
Merger Consideration	72
Stock Options and Warrants	73
Surrender of Certificates and Payment Procedures	73
Representations and Warranties	73
Covenants	74
Conditions to Completing the Merger	77
<u>Termination</u>	78
Amendment and Waiver	79
Fees and Expenses	80
Governing Law	81
<u>Assignment</u>	81
DESCRIPTION OF CAPITAL STOCK OF DALEEN HOLDINGS, INC.	82
Authorized Capital Stock	82
Common Stock	82
Preferred Stock	82
TRANSACTIONS RELATED TO THE MERGER	84
Investment Agreement	84
Bridge Loan Facilities	86
Protek Acquisition	87
Transaction Support Agreement	89
Amounts Paid by Daleen Holdings to or on Behalf of Behrman Capital	90
Amounts Paid by the Company to or on Behalf of Behrman Capital	90
Quadrangle Fee Letter	90
SUMMARY HISTORICAL FINANCIAL DATA	01

		Page
	PRICE RANGE OF COMMON STOCK AND DIVIDENDS SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND	92
	MANAGEMENT	93
	CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS	98
	Acquisition of Abiliti Solutions, Inc. and 2002 Private Placement of	
	Series F Preferred Stock	98
	Certain Other Related Party Transactions	99
	OTHER INFORMATION	100
	<u>Incorporation by Reference</u>	100
	Independent Accountants	100
	Where You Can Find More Information	100
	Information About Annual Meeting Stockholder Proposals	100
	Other Matters	101
APPENDIX A	Agreement and Plan of Merger and Share Exchange	
APPENDIX B	Opinion of Valuation Research Corporation	
APPENDIX C	Section 262 of the Delaware General Corporation Law	
APPENDIX D	Annual Report on Form 10-K/A for Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 2003	
APPENDIX E	Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for Fiscal Quarter Ended June 30, 2004	
APPENDIX E	Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for Fiscal Quarter Ended June 30, 2004	

SUMMARY TERM SHEET

The following summary briefly describes the terms of the proposed merger of the Company with Parallel Acquisition, a subsidiary of Daleen Holdings, which was formed for the sole purpose of merging with and into the Company (the Merger). While this summary describes the material terms and features of the Merger, this proxy statement contains elsewhere a more detailed description of the terms. We encourage you to carefully read the entire proxy statement, including the appendices and the exhibits thereto, before voting. We have included section references to direct you to a more complete description of the topics described in this summary. Additional information about us has been filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission and is available as described in the section of this proxy statement entitled OTHER INFORMATION Where You Can Find More Information.

Parties to the Merger and Other Relevant Parties

Daleen Technologies, Inc. We are a global provider of advanced billing and customer care, event management and revenue assurance software for convergent communication service providers and other technology solutions providers. We are a Delaware corporation with principal executive offices at 902 Clint Moore Road, Suite 230, Boca Raton, Florida 33487. Additional information about us can be found in our Annual Report on Form 10-K/A for our fiscal year ended December 31, 2003, a copy of which is attached to this proxy statement as Appendix D, and our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for our fiscal quarter ended June 30, 2004, a copy of which is attached to this proxy statement as Appendix E.

Daleen Holdings, Inc. Daleen Holdings is a newly formed Delaware corporation that is a wholly owned direct subsidiary of the Company. Daleen Holdings has no prior operations and is not expected to have any operations prior to the consummation of the Merger, except for the performance of its obligations under the Agreement and Plan of Merger and Share Exchange, dated as of May 7, 2004 (the Merger Agreement), among Daleen Holdings, Parallel Acquisition, Inc., a Delaware corporation, the Company, Behrman Capital II, L.P., a Delaware limited partnership, and Strategic Entrepreneur Fund II, L.P., a Delaware limited partnership (SEF). The principal executive offices of Daleen Holdings are located at 902 Clint Moore Road, Suite 230, Boca Raton, Florida 33487.

Parallel Acquisition, Inc. Parallel Acquisition is a newly formed Delaware corporation and a wholly owned subsidiary of Daleen Holdings. Parallel Acquisition was formed solely for the purpose of merging with us in the Merger. Parallel Acquisition has no prior operations and is not expected to have any operations prior to the consummation of the Merger. Upon effectiveness of the Merger, Parallel Acquisition will be merged with and into us, with us surviving the Merger as a subsidiary of Daleen Holdings. Parallel Acquisition s principal executive offices are located at 902 Clint Moore Road, Suite 230, Boca Raton, Florida 33487.

Behrman Capital II, L.P. Behrman Capital, a Delaware limited partnership, is an investment firm that principally backs experienced management teams in the purchases of businesses they operate. Behrman Capital s investments have historically been focused in four industries information technology, outsourcing, business services and contract manufacturing. As of August 20, 2004, Behrman Capital was the beneficial owner of 58,863,523 shares of our Common Stock and 219,744 shares of our Series F Preferred Stock. Behrman Capital s principal executive offices are located at 126 East 56th Street, 27th Floor, New York, NY 10022.

Strategic Entrepreneur Fund II, L.P. SEF is a Delaware limited partnership and an affiliate of Behrman Capital. SEF is an investment firm that historically has participated in the same investment opportunities as Behrman Capital. As of August 20, 2004, the record date for the Special Meeting, SEF was the beneficial owner of 790,579 shares of our Common Stock and 2,980 shares of our Series F Preferred Stock. SEF s principal executive offices are located at 126 East 56th Street, 27th Floor, New York, NY 10022.

Gordon Quick. Gordon Quick currently is a Director of the Company and our President and Chief Executive Officer. Mr. Quick also is currently the sole director, chief executive officer and treasurer of

each of Daleen Holdings and Parallel Acquisition. If the Merger is completed, Mr. Quick would become the Chief Executive Officer of Daleen Holdings pursuant to the terms of an employment agreement between Mr. Quick and Daleen Holdings. Mr. Quick also would be a Director of Daleen Holdings and would be eligible to participate in Daleen Holdings management incentive plan. Mr. Quick is party to a retention bonus arrangement with us, with the bonus amount specified in a separate side letter. As long as Mr. Quick remains employed by the Company at the earlier of (i) the completion of the Merger or (ii) May 6, 2005, the first anniversary of the side letter, a retention bonus of \$200,000 is payable to Mr. Quick by the Company. The bonus amount also is payable if Mr. Quick were to be terminated without cause or if he were to resign for good reason prior to such date.

Quadrangle Investors. Quadrangle Capital Partners LP, a Delaware limited partnership, is a private equity fund that primarily invests in the media and communications sectors. Concurrent with the completion of the Merger, Quadrangle Capital Partners LP and two of its affiliates, Quadrangle Select Partners LP and Quadrangle Capital Partners-A LP, (with Quadrangle Capital Partners LP, collectively referred to as the Quadrangle Investors), will invest \$25 million in cash in Daleen Holdings in exchange for shares of Daleen Holdings preferred stock. If the Merger and related transactions are completed, it is expected that Quadrangle will own approximately 71% of the then issued and outstanding shares of Daleen Holdings preferred stock and will control the right to designate a majority of the directors of Daleen Holdings. The Quadrangle Investors have capital commitments from their partners in excess of \$1 billion, of which \$419 million remains available as of June 30, 2004.

Protek Telecommunications Solutions Limited. Based in the United Kingdom, Protek is a leading provider of customer care and billing, network management and real-time inventory solutions to next-generation service providers, utilities and large government agencies. Concurrent with the execution and delivery of the Merger Agreement, Daleen Holdings agreed to purchase all outstanding shares of the capital stock of Protek for aggregate consideration of up to \$20 million, consisting of up to \$13 million in cash, \$5 million in common stock of Daleen Holdings, and contingent post-closing performance bonuses consisting of up to \$1 million in cash and \$1 million of common stock of Daleen Holdings. The purchase price will be subject to reduction in respect of closing date debt and working capital shortfalls.

See SPECIAL FACTORS Parties to the Merger and Other Relevant Parties.

Terms of the Merger

Pursuant to the Merger Agreement, Daleen Holdings will acquire us for an aggregate of \$17.2 million in cash and Daleen Holdings stock, allocated as described in this proxy statement. Upon completion of the Merger, Parallel Acquisition will merge with and into the Company, with the Company surviving the Merger. Daleen Holdings will own 100% of the Company s then outstanding stock immediately following the Merger, and you will no longer be a stockholder of, or have any ownership interest in, the Company, unless you hold shares of Series F Preferred Stock at the effective time of the Merger and receive Daleen Holdings common stock as all or part of your merger consideration.

Allocation of Consideration. For purposes of the Merger, our Common Stock has been valued at \$1.8 million in the aggregate, or approximately \$0.0384 per share, and our Series F Preferred Stock has been valued at \$15.4 million in the aggregate, or approximately \$34.28 per share. The aggregate merger consideration to be paid by Daleen Holdings would be allocated as follows:

Each share of our Common Stock outstanding at the Effective Time, excluding shares held by Daleen Holdings and shares as to which appraisal rights are properly exercised under Delaware law, will convert into the right to receive \$0.0384 per share in cash.

Each share of our Series F Preferred Stock outstanding at the Effective Time, excluding shares held by Daleen Holdings and shares as to which appraisal rights are properly exercised under Delaware law, will convert into the right to receive, at the election of the holder of each such share and subject to the reallocation described below, either (i) a combination of cash and Daleen Holdings common stock or (ii) solely Daleen Holdings common stock.

Immediately prior to consummation of the Merger, Behrman Capital and SEF are contractually obligated to exchange their shares of our Series F Preferred Stock for an equivalent value of Daleen Holdings securities, consisting of \$5 million in shares of Daleen Holdings preferred stock, and the remainder of the value attributable to their Series F Preferred Stock in Daleen Holdings common stock.

Depending upon its financial condition and working capital needs prior to the consummation of the Merger, in order to reduce the aggregate amount of cash consideration payable in connection with the Merger, the Company may permit holders of our Series F Preferred Stock, acting on an individual basis, to elect to receive in exchange for their shares of Series F Preferred Stock either: (i) solely Daleen Holdings common stock, (ii) solely cash consideration or (iii) a combination of Daleen Holdings common stock and cash; provided that the maximum aggregate amount of cash to be paid with respect to all shares of Series F Preferred Stock would be less than \$2.8 million, currently the maximum aggregate cash consideration payable to holders of Series F Preferred Stock in the Merger, in which case the maximum aggregate value of Daleen Holdings common stock that would be received by holders of Series F Preferred Stock would be increased by an amount equal to the reduction in the maximum aggregate cash consideration offered to holders of Series F Preferred Stock. Even if this alternative is offered to holders of our Series F Preferred Stock, only the form of consideration available to holders of Series F Preferred Stock would be affected. The cash consideration offered to holders of our Common Stock and the aggregate value of consideration offered to holders of Series F Preferred Stock would not be impacted in any respect.

See THE MERGER Payment of Merger Consideration and Surrender of Stock Certificates and THE MERGER AGREEMENT Merger Consideration.

Series F Preferred Stock Liquidation Preference. Under the terms of the Series F Preferred Stock, as set forth in our Certificate of Incorporation, upon a sale or liquidation of the Company, the holders of shares of Series F Preferred Stock are entitled to receive their aggregate liquidation preference of \$49.8 million in redemption of their shares. As a consequence, in any transaction valuing Daleen at less than that stated liquidation preference no value would be allocable to our Common Stock, absent agreement by our Series F Preferred holders to forgo some portion of the proceeds to which they would otherwise be entitled under our Certificate of Incorporation. Holders of Series F Preferred Stock have no obligation to convert their shares into Common Stock, nor would it make economic sense for them to so convert because they would receive less value upon conversion. See THE MERGER Payment of Merger Consideration and Surrender of Stock Certificates and THE MERGER AGREEMENT Merger Consideration.

Series F Preferred Stock Equity Election. If a holder of our Series F Preferred Stock, excluding Daleen Holdings or a holder properly exercising appraisal rights under Delaware law, chooses to receive a combination of cash and Daleen Holdings common stock, the ability of Daleen Holdings to grant the request will be determined by the elections of the other holders of Series F Preferred Stock. Any holders making this choice, in total, will receive:

cash per share equal to the result obtained by dividing (x) the result obtained by subtracting from \$4,600,000 the sum of all cash amounts to be paid to holders of our Common Stock at the completion of the Merger (assuming for purposes of such calculation that there are no exercises of appraisal rights under Delaware law), by (y) the aggregate number of shares of our Series F Preferred Stock held by record holders, other than Daleen Holdings, that have not elected to receive solely Daleen Holdings common stock at the completion of the Merger (but in no event more than \$34.28 per share); plus

a number of fully paid and nonassessable shares of Daleen Holdings common stock equal to the result obtained by dividing (x) the excess, if any, of \$34.28 over the per share cash amount to be received by holders of Series F Preferred Stock electing this option by (y) \$25.

For illustrative purposes, please note the following examples to determine the amount of cash and equity to be distributed to the holders of the Series F Preferred Stock, excluding Daleen Holdings or a holder properly exercising appraisal rights under Delaware law:

The aggregate cash amount payable to the holders of Common Stock at completion of the Merger is \$1.8 million. The difference between the \$4.6 million available for distribution to all stockholders of Daleen, excluding Behrman Capital and SEF, and \$1.8 million is \$2.8 million.

In the event that holders of 100,000 shares of Series F Preferred Stock, which represents approximately 44% of the number of currently issued and outstanding shares of Series F Preferred Stock, elect to receive cash, each such holder shall receive (i) an amount in cash equal to \$28.00 per share of Series F Preferred Stock held by such holder (\$2.8 million divided by 100,000 shares of Series F Preferred Stock) and (ii) shares of Daleen Holdings Common Stock equal to the value of \$6.28, the difference between \$34.28 and \$28.00 (0.2512 shares where each share of Daleen Holdings Common Stock is valued at \$25.00). Therefore, under this scenario, a single hypothetical holder of 1,000 shares of Series F Preferred Stock would receive an amount in cash equal to \$28,005, including \$5.00 received for the resulting fractional share, and 251 shares of Daleen Holdings Common Stock for the 1,000 shares of Series F Preferred Stock. Any holder of shares of Series F Preferred Stock electing not to receive any cash in the Merger shall receive 1.3712 shares of Daleen Holdings Common Stock for each share of Series F Preferred Stock held by such holder. As a result, a single hypothetical holder of 1,000 shares of Series F Preferred Stock electing not to receive any cash in the Merger would receive 1371 shares of Daleen Holdings Common Stock and \$5.00 in cash for the resulting fractional share for the 1,000 shares of Series F Preferred Stock.

If all holders of shares of Series F Preferred Stock elect to receive cash, then each such holder shall receive (i) an amount in cash equal to \$12.36 (\$2.8 million of available cash divided by 226,513 outstanding shares of Series F Preferred Stock, excluding shares held by Daleen Holdings, Behrman Capital and SEF or a holder properly exercising appraisal rights under Delaware law) and (ii) shares of Daleen Holdings Common Stock valued at \$21.92, the difference between \$34.28 and \$12.36 (0.8768 shares where each share of Daleen Holdings Common Stock is valued at \$25.00). Thus, under this scenario, a single hypothetical holder of 1,000 shares of Series F Preferred Stock would receive an amount in cash equal to \$12,381.32, including \$20.00 received for the resulting fractional share, and 876 shares of Daleen Holdings Common Stock in exchange for the 1,000 shares of Series F Preferred Stock.

See THE MERGER Payment of Merger Consideration and Surrender of Stock Certificates and THE MERGER AGREEMENT Merger Consideration.

Fractional Shares. No certificates representing fractional shares of Daleen Holdings common stock will be issued in connection with the Merger. Each record holder of our Series F Preferred Stock exchanged in the Merger who otherwise would have been entitled to receive a fraction of a share of Daleen Holdings common stock, after taking into account all shares of our Series F Preferred Stock delivered by that holder, will receive, in lieu of that fractional share, a cash payment, without interest, in an amount equal to the product of that fraction multiplied by \$25. See THE MERGER Payment of Merger Consideration and Surrender of Stock Certificates and THE MERGER AGREEMENT Merger Consideration.

Escrow Arrangement.

In accordance with an indemnity escrow agreement, \$970,618.01, representing 12.5% of the aggregate consideration allocated to the holders of our Series F Preferred Stock (regardless of their election and including cash and securities in proportion to the amounts to be received by such holders of Series F Preferred Stock), excluding any consideration paid to Behrman Capital and SEF, will be retained in escrow.

If certain specified litigation is outstanding as of the effective time of the Merger, an additional \$503,944.87, representing 6.49% of the aggregate consideration allocated to the holders of our Series F Preferred Stock, excluding any consideration paid to Behrman Capital and SEF, will be held in a special escrow account securing the indemnification obligations of the holders of Series F Preferred Stock, excluding Behrman Capital and SEF, with respect to that litigation.

An additional approximately \$826,432.98, representing all of the cash consideration otherwise deliverable to Behrman Capital and SEF under the Merger Agreement, will be delivered to the escrow agent to secure all of the indemnification obligations of Behrman Capital and SEF under the Merger Agreement.

The holders of the Common Stock do not have any indemnification obligations under the Merger Agreement and, as such, none of the consideration deliverable in respect of the Common Stock, other than the Common Stock held by Behrman Capital and SEF, will be deposited into escrow.

See THE MERGER Escrow Arrangement.

Termination Rights. If, in fulfillment of their fiduciary duties, our Board of Directors terminates the Merger Agreement due to a superior bid, a break-up fee of \$500,000 must be paid by us to the Quadrangle Investors. In addition, a break-up fee of \$200,000 will be payable by us to Protek under such circumstances. See THE MERGER AGREEMENT Termination. Our ability to terminate the Merger Agreement is materially limited by the rights of the Quadrangle Investors and Protek under a transaction support agreement. See TRANSACTIONS RELATED TO THE MERGER Transaction Support Agreement.

Stock Options and Warrants. Upon effectiveness of the Merger, each outstanding option or warrant to purchase our capital stock, whether or not exercisable, whether or not vested, and whether or not performance-based, will, to the extent not exercised prior to the closing of the Merger, be terminated and be of no further value or effect. We have amended the terms of each of our stock option plans to provide that the vesting and exercise of each option or warrant will accelerate effective as of the date of the closing of the Merger, and that, unless exercised by written notice of exercise delivered prior to the date of the closing of the Merger, and conditioned solely on the occurrence of the closing, each option or warrant will terminate immediately prior to the effectiveness of the Merger without further action by us or the holder of the option. See THE MERGER AGREEMENT Stock Options and Warrants.

Transactions Related to the Merger

Investments in Daleen Holdings. The Quadrangle Investors, Behrman Capital and SEF entered into an investment agreement pursuant to and subject to the terms and conditions of which they agreed to invest an aggregate of \$30 million in Daleen Holdings (\$25 million by the Quadrangle Investors and \$5 million by Behrman Capital and SEF, assuming no participation by holders of Series F Preferred Stock) concurrently with the completion of the Merger. In consideration for these investments, Daleen Holdings has agreed to issue to them shares of Daleen Holdings preferred stock representing the following percentages of the outstanding shares, calculated on an as-converted to common stock basis, immediately after the completion of the Merger: 37.21% to Quadrangle Capital Partners LP, 1.89% to Quadrangle Select Partners LP, 13.53% to Quadrangle Capital Partners-A LP, 10.36% to Behrman Capital and 0.14% to SEF, in each case assuming that no holder of Series F Preferred exercised the equity election in the Merger. The obligations to make these investments is contingent upon the completion of the Merger. See TRANSACTIONS RELATED TO THE MERGER Investment Agreement.

Bridge Loan Facilities. In order to assist Protek with its ordinary course working capital needs prior to the closing of the acquisition of Protek by Daleen Holdings, which would occur concurrently with the completion of the Merger of Parallel Acquisition and us, we have provided Protek with a bridge loan of up to \$1.5 million, of which \$500,000 is treated as a deposit paid to Protek by Daleen Holdings under the stock purchase agreement pursuant to which Daleen Holdings has agreed to acquire Protek concurrently with the completion of the Merger. The current outstanding balance on this bridge loan is approximately

\$1.0 million. This \$500,000 would be forgiven by us upon any termination of the stock purchase agreement other than as a result of a breach by Protek. This loan is funded in turn by a loan to us by Behrman Capital pursuant to a separate bridge facility described below.

The loan from Behrman Capital to us has been made pursuant to a bridge loan facility in an aggregate principal amount of \$5.1 million. Up to \$1.5 million of the proceeds may be used by us to fund the bridge loan by us to Protek, and the remainder, if drawn upon, may be available to us to assist us with our ordinary course working capital needs prior to the closing of the Merger and to pay costs we incur in connection with the Merger and related transactions. The current outstanding balance on this bridge loan is approximately \$2.7 million. At completion of the Merger, any outstanding amounts lent to us by Behrman Capital under the bridge loan facility between Behrman Capital and us may be used as consideration in respect of Behrman Capital s commitment to invest \$5 million in Daleen Holdings. See TRANSACTIONS RELATED TO THE MERGER Bridge Loan Facilities.

Protek Acquisition by Daleen Holdings. Concurrent with the completion of the Merger and the transactions contemplated by the Merger Agreement, Daleen Holdings will acquire Protek by purchase of all of Protek s outstanding capital stock from its current shareholders for an aggregate consideration of up to \$20 million. The acquisition is contingent upon a concurrent completion of the Merger. See CERTAIN TRANSACTIONS RELATED TO THE MERGER Protek Acquisition.

Voting Agreements. The Quadrangle Investors have entered into separate voting agreements with SAIC Venture Capital Corporation, Behrman Capital, SEF, HarbourVest Partners V Direct Fund L.P. and HarbourVest Partners VI Direct Fund, L.P. pursuant to which these stockholders have agreed with the Quadrangle Investors to vote all of their shares of our Common Stock and Series F Preferred Stock in favor of the approval and adoption of the Merger Agreement at the Special Meeting. In addition, these stockholders have agreed in their respective Voting Agreements with the Quadrangle Investors to waive the mandatory redemption rights of our Series F Preferred Stock in connection with the Merger. As of August 20, 2004, the record date for the Special Meeting, stockholders party to the separate Voting Agreements held an aggregate of approximately 71% of the combined voting power of our outstanding Common Stock and Series F Preferred Stock, which is sufficient voting power in and of itself to approve the Merger Agreement. See SPECIAL FACTORS Voting Agreements.

Indemnity Escrow Agreement. In accordance with the terms of an indemnity escrow agreement, 12.5% of the aggregate consideration allocated in the Merger to the holders of our Series F Preferred Stock (regardless of their election and including cash and securities in proportion to the amounts to be received by such holders of Series F Preferred Stock), excluding consideration delivered to Behrman Capital and SEF, will be retained in escrow to secure their respective obligations to indemnify Daleen Holdings, its directors, officers, managers, employees, equity holders and permitted assigns from any losses, liabilities, claims, obligations, damages, costs, and expenses relating to or arising out of the breach of any representation, warranty, covenant or agreement contained in the Merger Agreement. This escrow will have a value of approximately \$970,618.01.

In addition, if certain specified litigation is pending against us as of the effective time of the Merger, an additional 6.49% of such aggregate consideration allocated in the Merger to the holders of our Series F Preferred Stock (regardless of their election and including cash and securities in proportion to the amounts to be received by such holders of Series F Preferred Stock), excluding consideration delivered to Behrman Capital and SEF, will be delivered to the escrow agent and held as a special escrow account securing the indemnification obligations of the holders of our Series F Preferred Stock, excluding Behrman Capital and SEF, to indemnify 66.67% of any and all losses, liabilities, claims, obligations, damages, costs and expenses relating to or arising out of that litigation. This escrow will have a value of approximately \$503,944.87, if created.

A separate escrow account consisting solely of cash otherwise deliverable to Behrman Capital and SEF under the Merger Agreement (approximately \$826,432.98) will be established upon the closing of the Merger. These cash amounts will be applied pro rata to claims arising either in respect of the general indemnification that is the subject of the 12.5% general escrow or in respect of the specified litigation that

is the subject of the 6.49% special escrow. The indemnification obligations of Behrman Capital and SEF will be limited to this cash escrow. The maximum aggregate indemnification obligation of Behrman Capital and SEF represents approximately 9.85% of the aggregate value that they will receive in the exchange of their shares of our Series F Preferred Stock and Common Stock in the share exchange and Merger, but will be funded solely in cash, whereas the maximum indemnification obligation of other Series F holders will represent 19% of the aggregate value received by them in the Merger but will consist of cash and securities.

Holders of our Common Stock do not have indemnification obligations under the Merger Agreement in respect of the shares of Common Stock held by them, and, as such, none of the consideration to be delivered to holders of our Common Stock, other than Behrman Capital and SEF, will be retained in escrow.

See THE MERGER Escrow Arrangement.

Special Committee of the Board of Directors

Certain of our directors have financial and other interests that may be different from, and in addition to, your interests in the proposal described in this proxy statement. Our Board of Directors decided that, in order to protect the interests of our unaffiliated stockholders in evaluating the Merger Agreement, the Strategic Planning Committee (the Special Committee), a special committee of non-employee directors not affiliated with Behrman Capital, should be formed to perform that task and, if appropriate, to recommend the Merger and the terms of the Merger Agreement to our entire Board of Directors. The Special Committee consisted of Messrs. John McCarthy, Daniel Foreman and Stephen Getsy. The Special Committee retained Thompson Coburn LLP as its separate legal counsel. See SPECIAL FACTORS Background of the Merger.

Recommendation of the Special Committee and the Board of Directors

After consideration, and in light of the factors described in the section of this proxy statement entitled SPECIAL FACTORS Reasons for the Special Committee s Determination; Fairness of the Merger and Reasons for the Board of Directors Determination; Fairness of the Merger, the Special Committee and our Board of Directors, based on the recommendation of the Special Committee, unanimously determined that the Merger Agreement and the transactions contemplated thereby, including the Merger, are advisable, fair to, and in the best interests of Daleen and its stockholders. Accordingly, our Board of Directors recommends that you vote FOR the approval and adoption of the Merger Agreement.

For a discussion of the material factors considered by the Special Committee and our Board of Directors in reaching their conclusions and the reasons why the Special Committee and our Board of Directors determined that the Merger Agreement and the transactions contemplated by it, including the Merger, are advisable, fair to and in the best interests of Daleen and its stockholders, including unaffiliated stockholders, see the sections of this proxy statement entitled SPECIAL FACTORS Reasons for the Special Committee s Determination; Fairness of the Merger, and Reasons for the Board of Directors Determination; Fairness of the Merger.

Opinion of the Financial Advisor

The Special Committee, on behalf of our Board of Directors, received the written opinion of the Company's financial advisor, Valuation Research Corporation (VRC) to the effect that, as of May 5, 2004, the merger consideration to be received by the holders of our Common Stock and Series F Preferred Stock in the Merger was fair, from a financial point of view, to such holders. VRC s written opinion is described in more detail under the caption SPECIAL FACTORS Opinion of Valuation Research Corporation, and the full text of its written opinion, dated May 5, 2004, is attached as Appendix B to this proxy statement. We encourage you to read this opinion carefully in its entirety for a description of the procedures followed, assumptions made, matters considered and limitations on the review undertaken.

VRC s opinion was provided to the Special Committee in connection with its evaluation of the merger consideration and relates only to the fairness, from a financial point of view, of the merger consideration, does not address any other aspect of the Merger and does not constitute a recommendation to any stockholder as to any matters relating to the Merger or any related transaction.

Positions of Behrman Capital, SEF, Daleen Holdings, Parallel Acquisition and Gordon Quick as to the Fairness of the Merger

The rules of the Securities and Exchange Commission require Behrman Capital, SEF, Daleen Holdings, Parallel Acquisition and Gordon Quick to express their respective beliefs regarding the fairness of the Merger to our unaffiliated stockholders.

For this reason, Behrman Capital and SEF have carefully reviewed and considered the factors and reasons more fully discussed in the section of this proxy statement entitled SPECIAL FACTORS Reasons for Behrman Capital s and SEF s Determination; Fairness of the Merger . Also for this reason, Daleen Holdings, Parallel Acquisition and Mr. Quick have carefully reviewed and considered the factors examined by the Special Committee and our Board of Directors described in the sections of this proxy statement entitled SPECIAL FACTORS Reasons for the Special Committee s Determination; Fairness of the Merger and Reasons for the Board of Directors Determination; Fairness of the Merger. Based on their review of these factors, Behrman Capital, SEF, Daleen Holdings, Parallel Acquisition and Mr. Quick each believe that the Merger is fair to our stockholders, including unaffiliated stockholders. Behrman Capital, SEF, Daleen Holdings, Parallel Acquisition and Gordon Quick each reached this conclusion independently of one another.

This position of Behrman Capital, SEF, Daleen Holdings, Parallel Acquisition and Mr. Quick should not be construed as a recommendation to any stockholder as to how they should vote at the Special Meeting. None of Behrman Capital, SEF, Daleen Holdings, Parallel Acquisition or Mr. Quick have considered any factors, other than as stated or outlined herein, regarding the fairness of the Merger, as they believe the factors they considered provided a reasonable basis to form their belief. None of Behrman Capital, SEF, Daleen Holdings, Parallel Acquisition or Mr. Quick solicited or otherwise obtained the advice of an independent party as to the fairness of the Merger and, as interested parties with respect to the Merger, may not be deemed to be objective in their views with regard to the fairness of the Merger. See SPECIAL FACTORS Interests of Certain Parties. None of Daleen Holdings, Parallel Acquisition, Mr. Quick, Behrman Capital or SEF has any reason to disagree with the Special Committee or Board of Directors in their considerations of the factors stated above, or conclusions regarding some of those factors. As a result, Daleen Holdings, Parallel Acquisition and Mr. Quick each adopt the Special Committee s and Board of Directors analyses and conclusions with respect to each of such factors. Those analyses and conclusions, as well as the additional analysis and conclusions made and reached by Behrman Capital and SEF are set forth in the sections of this proxy statement entitled SPECIAL FACTORS Positions of Behrman Capital, SEF, Daleen Holdings, Parallel Acquisition and Gordon Quick s Determination; Fairness of the Merger; and Reasons for Behrman Capital s and SEF s Determination; Fairness of the Merger.

Interests of Directors and Officers in the Merger

When considering the recommendation of our Board of Directors that you vote FOR approval and adoption of the Merger Agreement, you should be aware that certain of our directors and officers have interests in the Merger that are different from, or in addition to, yours and that may present, or appear to present, a conflict of interest. See SPECIAL FACTORS Interests of Certain Parties. These interests include the following:

some of our directors and executive officers hold Common Stock and/or Series F Preferred Stock and, as a result, will receive the applicable merger consideration for these shares;

Dennis Sisco, one of our Directors, is a member of Behrman Brothers, L.L.C., an investment firm that manages Behrman Capital;

Daleen Holdings entered into an employment agreement with Gordon Quick, currently a Director and our President and Chief Executive Officer, and has offered employment to certain members of our management, and such persons, including Mr. Quick, will be eligible to participate in Daleen Holdings management incentive plan; and

Mr. Quick is party to a retention bonus arrangement with us whereby, as long as Mr. Quick remains employed by the Company at the earlier of (i) the completion of the Merger or (ii) May 6, 2005, a retention bonus of \$200,000 is payable to Mr. Quick by the Company. **Effects of the Merger**

Upon completion of the Merger, Parallel Acquisition will merge with and into the Company, with the Company surviving the Merger. Daleen Holdings will own 100% of the Company state the outstanding stock immediately following the Merger, and you will no longer be a stockholder of, or have any ownership interest in, the Company, unless you hold shares of Series F Preferred Stock at the effective time of the Merger and receive Daleen Holdings common stock as all or part of your merger consideration. Our Common Stock will no longer be quoted on the OTC Bulletin Board, and the registration of our Common Stock under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the Exchange Act), the only class of our securities currently registered under the Exchange Act, will terminate. As a result, we will cease to file periodic reports with the Securities and Exchange Commission under the Exchange Act.

Upon completion of the merger, holders of our Series F Preferred Stock will own up to 28% of Daleen Holdings preferred stock and up to approximately 60% of Daleen Holdings common stock. Quadrangle will own approximately 71% of Daleen Holdings preferred stock. Therefore, Quadrangle and holders of our Series F Preferred Stock will be the primary beneficiaries of our future earnings and growth, if any. Upon completion of the Merger, unless you hold shares of Series F Preferred Stock at the effective time of the Merger, you will not participate in any future earnings or growth and will not benefit from any appreciation in our value, if any. See SPECIAL FACTORS Effects of the Merger.

Conditions to Completing the Merger

Conditions to the Obligations of Each Party to the Merger. The obligations of each party to complete the Merger are subject to the satisfaction or waiver of certain conditions, including the following:

the Merger Agreement must be approved by 45,917,427 votes, which constitute a majority of the votes represented by all shares of our Common Stock and Series F Preferred Stock outstanding as of August 20, 2004 and voting as a single class, with each share of Series F Preferred Stock being entitled to 100 votes. As of August 20, 2004, the record date for the Special Meeting, stockholders party to the separate Voting Agreements held an aggregate of 65,658,034 votes, approximately 71% of the combined voting power of our outstanding Common Stock and Series F Preferred Stock, which is sufficient voting power in and of itself to approve the Merger Agreement;

Behrman Capital and SEF must have delivered their shares of our Series F Preferred Stock to Daleen Holdings immediately prior to completion of the Merger, and Daleen Holdings must have paid the consideration described in this proxy statement to Behrman Capital and SEF for those shares of Series F Preferred Stock;

shares with respect to which appraisal rights have been properly exercised pursuant to Delaware law may not include more than 5% of the shares of our Common Stock or 5% of the shares of our Series F Preferred Stock (including shares held by Behrman Capital or SEF) outstanding as of the effectiveness of the Merger; and

(i) no order, stay, decree, judgment or injunction has been entered, issued or enforced which prohibits the Merger, and (ii) there has been no action taken, or any statute, rule, regulation or order enacted, entered, enforced or deemed applicable to the Merger, which makes the consummation of the Merger illegal or substantially deprives Daleen Holdings of any of the anticipated benefits of the Merger.

Conditions to Our Obligations. Our obligations to complete the Merger also are subject to the satisfaction or waiver of other conditions, including the following:

the representations and warranties of Daleen Holdings and Parallel Acquisition contained in the Merger Agreement must be true and correct in accordance with materiality or material adverse effect qualifiers set forth in the Merger Agreement; and

each of Daleen Holdings and Parallel Acquisition must have performed in all material respects each of their covenants set forth in the Merger Agreement.

Conditions to the Obligations of Daleen Holdings and Parallel Acquisition. The obligations of Daleen Holdings and Parallel Acquisition to complete the Merger also are subject to the satisfaction or waiver of other conditions, including the following:

our representations and warranties contained in the Merger Agreement must be true and correct in accordance with materiality or material adverse effect qualifiers set forth in the Merger Agreement;

we must have performed in all material respects each of our covenants set forth in the Merger Agreement;

we must have obtained a written consent and waiver agreement from Silicon Valley Bank and the United States Export Import Bank consenting to the execution, delivery and performance of the Merger Agreement and each of the transactions contemplated by the Merger Agreement and waiving any default in respect of the Merger Agreement, which written consent and waiver agreement has already been obtained:

as of the closing of the Merger, there has not been any occurrence that has or would reasonably be expected to have a material adverse effect on us, with certain exceptions; and

the aggregate amount of all indemnity to which Daleen Holdings and its respective directors, officers, managers, employees, equity holders, agents, affiliates, successors and permitted assigns would reasonably be expected to be entitled in respect of losses related to or arising out of certain specified litigation brought prior to the completion of the Merger, after giving effect to limitations and offsets set forth in the Merger Agreement, must not exceed \$1,000,000.

 $See \quad THE \ MERGER \ AGREEMENT \quad Conditions \ to \ Completing \ the \ Merger.$

Our ability and the ability of Daleen Holdings to waive closing conditions are materially limited by the rights of the Quadrangle Investors and Protek under a transaction support agreement. Under the transaction support agreement, no material conditions to the Merger Agreement can be waived without the prior written consent of other parties to the transaction support agreement. See TRANSACTIONS RELATED TO THE MERGER Transaction Support Agreement.

Termination

The Merger Agreement may be terminated prior to the effective time of the Merger for a number of reasons, including the following:

by mutual written consent duly authorized by our Board of Directors and the respective boards of directors of Daleen Holdings and Parallel Acquisition;

by Daleen Holdings or us if the Merger has not become effective on or prior to September 30, 2004; and

by us if our Board of Directors or the Special Committee determine in good faith that a competing transaction is reasonably likely to be more favorable to our stockholders from a financial point of view than the Merger and upon payment of a termination fee.

See THE MERGER AGREEMENT Termination.

Our ability and the ability of Daleen Holdings to exercise these termination rights are materially limited by the rights of Quadrangle Capital Partners LP and Protek under a transaction support agreement. See TRANSACTIONS RELATED TO THE MERGER Transaction Support Agreement.

Material U.S. Federal Income Tax Consequences

Generally, a stockholder who receives only cash in the Merger would recognize capital gain or loss equal to the difference between the amount of cash received and the tax basis of the Common Stock exchanged in the Merger. A stockholder who receives Daleen Holdings—stock and cash in the Merger and related share exchange would recognize gain (if any) but not loss in an amount equal to the lesser of: (i) the amount of cash received in the exchange; and (ii) the amount of gain realized in the exchange. A stockholder who receives solely shares of Daleen Holdings—common stock in the Merger would not recognize gain or loss for U.S. federal income tax purposes, except with respect to cash, if any, the stockholder receives in lieu of a fractional share of Daleen Holdings—common stock. See—THE MERGER—Material U.S. Federal Income Tax Consequences.

Litigation Relating to the Merger

Following our announcement of the execution of the Merger Agreement on May 7, 2004, litigation previously filed against us and our directors in respect of our previously proposed reverse stock split was amended to address the transaction described in this proxy statement. Two additional purported class action complaints were filed in the Delaware Court of Chancery to commence lawsuits on behalf of our public holders of Common Stock against us, our directors, Quadrangle Capital Partners LP, Quadrangle Group LLC, Behrman Capital and Behrman Brothers, L.L.C.

See THE MERGER Litigation Relating to the Merger.

Appraisal Rights

If you so choose, you will be entitled to exercise appraisal rights upon completion of the Merger so long as you take all the steps required to perfect your rights under Delaware law. See THE MERGER Appraisal Rights.

Required Vote

The Merger is subject to the approval by the affirmative vote of the holders of a majority of the votes represented by all shares of our Common Stock and Series F Preferred Stock outstanding as of August 20, 2004 and voting as a single class, with each share of Series F Preferred Stock being entitled to 100 votes. In addition, the consummation of the Merger will require the affirmative vote or written consent of the holders of a majority of the shares of our Series F Preferred Stock in favor of the waiver of the mandatory redemption rights of our Series F Preferred Stock in connection with the Merger. The Merger has not been structured so that approval of a majority of unaffiliated security holders is required. As of August 20, 2004, the record date for the Special Meeting, stockholders party to the separate Voting Agreements held an aggregate of 65,658,034 votes, approximately 71% of the combined voting power of our outstanding Common Stock and Series F Preferred Stock, which is sufficient voting power in and of itself to approve the Merger Agreement. See SPECIAL FACTORS Vote Required.

Reservation of Rights

Although our Board of Directors requests stockholder approval and adoption of the Merger Agreement, our Board of Directors reserves the right to withdraw the proposal from the agenda of the Special Meeting prior to any stockholder vote thereon or to abandon the proposal after such vote and before the effectiveness of the Merger, even if the proposal is approved under circumstances where a majority of our Directors reasonably determines in good faith (i) after consultation with independent legal counsel, that failure to accept a competing proposal would constitute a breach of their fiduciary duty and

(ii) based on a written opinion of a nationally recognized financial advisor, that the competing transaction is reasonably likely to be more favorable to our stockholders from a financial point of view than the Merger. See SPECIAL FACTORS Reservation of Rights.

Questions

If, after reading this proxy statement, you have additional questions about the Merger or other matters discussed in this proxy statement, you need additional copies of this proxy statement (which will be provided to you without charge) or you require assistance with voting your shares, please contact:

Dawn Landry

Vice President and General Counsel Daleen Technologies, Inc. 902 Clint Moore Road, Suite 230 Boca Raton, Florida 33487 (561) 981-2106

12

OUESTIONS AND ANSWERS ABOUT THE PROXY MATERIALS

AND THE SPECIAL MEETING

Q: Why am I receiving these materials?

A: The Board of Directors is providing these proxy materials for you in connection with the special meeting of stockholders, which will take place on September 24, 2004. As a stockholder on the record date for the Special Meeting, you are invited to attend the Special Meeting and are entitled to and requested to vote on the proposals described in this proxy statement.

Q: What information is contained in these materials?

A: The information included in this proxy statement relates to the proposals scheduled to be voted on at the Special Meeting, the voting process and certain other required information.

Q: What proposals will be voted on at the Special Meeting?

A: There is one proposal scheduled to be voted on at the Special Meeting:

To vote on a proposal to approve and adopt the Agreement and Plan of Merger and Share Exchange, dated as of May 7, 2004, among Daleen Holdings, Inc., Parallel Acquisition, Inc., the Company, Behrman Capital, and SEF, pursuant to which:

Parallel Acquisition, a subsidiary of Daleen Holdings formed for the sole purpose of merging with the Company, will be merged with and into the Company, with the Company surviving as a subsidiary of Daleen Holdings; and

Behrman Capital and SEF will exchange all of their shares of the Company s Series F Convertible Preferred Stock immediately prior to the completion of the Merger for shares of Daleen Holdings common stock and preferred stock.

In addition, you will be asked to vote on any other business as may properly come before the Special Meeting or any adjournment or adjournments thereof.

Approval and adoption of the Merger Agreement will also constitute approval of the Merger and the other transactions contemplated by the Merger Agreement.

Q: What is the Board of Directors voting recommendation?

A: The Board of Directors recommends that you vote your shares FOR Proposal One to approve and adopt the Merger Agreement.

Q: What do I need to do now?

A: After you read and carefully consider the information contained in this proxy statement, please fill out, sign and date your proxy card and mail it in the enclosed return envelope as soon as possible, so that your shares will be represented at the Special Meeting.

Q: What shares may I vote?

A: You may vote all shares of our Common Stock and all shares of our Series F Preferred Stock that you own as of the close of business on August 20, 2004, which is referred to in this proxy statement as the record date. These shares include shares held directly in your name as the stockholder of record and shares held for you as the beneficial owner through a broker or bank.

Q: What is the difference between holding shares as a stockholder of record and as a beneficial owner?

A: Many of our stockholders hold their shares through a broker, bank or other nominee rather than directly in their own name. As summarized below, there are some distinctions between shares held of record and those owned beneficially.

Stockholder of Record

If your shares are registered directly in your name with our transfer agent, SunTrust Bank, you are considered, with respect to those shares, to be the stockholder of record, and these proxy materials are being sent directly to you by us. As the stockholder of record, you have the right to grant your voting proxy directly to us or to vote in person at the Special Meeting. We have enclosed a proxy card for you to use.

Beneficial Owner

If your shares are held in a stock brokerage account or by a bank or other nominee, you are considered to be the beneficial owner of shares held in street name, and these proxy materials are being forwarded to you by your broker or nominee. The broker or nominee is considered to be the stockholder of record with respect to those shares. As the beneficial owner, you have the right to direct your broker how to vote and are also invited to attend the Special Meeting. However, as a beneficial owner, you are not the stockholder of record, and you may not vote these shares in person at the Special Meeting unless you obtain a signed proxy from your broker or nominee giving you the right to vote the shares at the Special Meeting. Your broker or nominee has enclosed or provided a voting instruction card for you to use in directing the broker or nominee how to vote your shares.

Q: How do I vote my shares in person at the Special Meeting?

A: Shares held directly in your name as the stockholder of record may be voted in person at the Special Meeting. If you choose to vote in person, please bring the enclosed proxy card or proof of identification. Even if you currently plan to attend the Special Meeting, we recommend that you also submit your proxy as described below so that your vote will be counted if you are unable or later decide not to attend the Special Meeting. Shares held in street name may be voted in person by you only if you obtain a signed proxy from the stockholder of record giving you the right to vote the shares.

Q: How do I vote my shares without attending the Special Meeting?

A: Whether you hold your shares directly as the stockholder of record or beneficially in street name, you may direct your vote without attending the Special Meeting. You may vote by signing your proxy card or, for shares held in street name, by signing the voting instruction card included by your broker or nominee and mailing it in the accompanying enclosed, pre-addressed envelope. If you provide specific voting instructions, your shares will be voted as you instruct. If you sign your proxy card but do not provide instructions, your shares will be voted FOR Proposal One to approve and adopt the Merger Agreement.

Q: What will be the result of the Merger?

A: Under the Merger Agreement, Parallel Acquisition, a subsidiary of Daleen Holdings formed for the sole purpose of merging with the Company, will merge with and into the Company, with the Company surviving as a subsidiary of Daleen Holdings. In the Merger and in the Series F Preferred Stock exchange among Behrman Capital, SEF and Daleen Holdings to be completed immediately prior to the Merger, Behrman Capital, SEF, the other holders of our Common Stock and the holders of our Series F Preferred Stock at the effective time of the Merger will receive an aggregate of \$17.2 million in cash and Daleen Holdings stock, allocated as described in this proxy statement. Holders of our Common Stock will have no further equity interest in the Company or Daleen Holdings following completion of the Merger.

Q: How many votes will I be entitled to?

A: As of the close of business on August 20, 2004, the record date for the Special Meeting, we had issued and outstanding 46,911,152 shares of our Common Stock and 449,237 shares of our Series F Preferred Stock. Each holder of record of our Common Stock on the record date will be entitled to one vote for each share held. Each holder of record of our Series F Preferred Stock on the record date will be entitled to 100 votes for each share held. Accordingly, on the record date the shares of Series F Preferred

Stock then issued and outstanding constituted the right to cast a total of 44,923,700 votes at the Special Meeting, or approximately 49% of all votes eligible to be cast at the Special Meeting.

Q: Who is Daleen Holdings?

A: Daleen Holdings is a newly formed Delaware corporation that has been formed for the purpose of entering into and consummating the Merger and other transactions contemplated by the Merger Agreement. We currently own all of the issued and outstanding capital stock of Daleen Holdings. Upon consummation of the Merger, all of the Daleen Holdings capital stock owned by us will be redeemed for nominal consideration. Concurrent with the execution and delivery of the Merger Agreement, Quadrangle Capital Partners LP, a Delaware limited partnership, Quadrangle Select Partners LP, a Delaware limited partnership, Quadrangle Capital Partners-A LP, a Delaware limited partnership, Behrman Capital and SEF entered into an investment agreement pursuant to and subject to the terms and conditions of which those parties agreed to invest an aggregate of \$30 million in Daleen Holdings upon completion of the Merger of Parallel Acquisition and us in consideration of the issuance by Daleen Holdings to them of shares of Daleen Holdings preferred stock. Behrman Capital and SEF have committed to invest an aggregate of \$5 million under the investment agreement, which commitment may be satisfied by Behrman and SEF to the extent they transfer to Daleen Holdings any notes that evidence our outstanding indebtedness to them at the time of the Merger under the bridge loan facility described in TRANSACTIONS RELATED TO THE MERGER Bridge Loan Facilities. Each holder of Series F Preferred Stock may elect to participate in this \$5 million investment, on a pro rata basis with all other participating holders of Series F Preferred Stock, up to an aggregate amount of \$1 million. Also concurrent with the execution and delivery of the Merger Agreement, Daleen Holdings agreed to purchase all outstanding shares of the capital stock of Protek Telecommunications Solutions Limited, a corporation organized under the laws of England and Wales. Gordon Quick, currently a Director and our President and Chief Executive Officer, would be an initial director and the Chief Executive Officer of Daleen Holdings upon completion of the Merger.

Q: What will I receive in the Merger for my shares of Common Stock?

A: If the Merger is completed, each share of Common Stock outstanding at the completion of the Merger, excluding shares held by Daleen Holdings and shares as to which appraisal rights are properly exercised under Delaware law, will be converted into the right to receive \$0.0384 per share in cash, without interest and less any applicable withholding taxes.

Q: What will I receive in the Merger for my shares of Series F Preferred Stock?

A: Each share of Series F Preferred Stock outstanding at the completion of the Merger, excluding shares held by Daleen Holdings and shares as to which appraisal rights are properly exercised under Delaware law, will be converted into the right to receive either:

a combination of cash and Daleen Holdings common stock; or

solely Daleen Holdings common stock.

If you choose to receive a combination of cash and Daleen Holdings common stock, the amount of cash that you receive will be determined by the elections of the other holders of Series F Preferred Stock, excluding Daleen Holdings. The maximum aggregate amount of cash to be paid by Daleen Holdings to holders of our Series F Preferred Stock who select this option is \$2,800,000.

If you choose to receive solely Daleen Holdings common stock, each share of your Series F Preferred Stock will convert upon completion of the Merger into the right to receive 1.3712 shares of Daleen Holdings common stock.

Each record holder of our Series F Preferred Stock exchanged in the Merger who otherwise would have been entitled to receive a fraction of a share of Daleen Holdings common stock, after taking into account all shares of our Series F Preferred Stock delivered by that holder, will receive, in lieu of that

fractional share, a cash payment, without interest, in an amount equal to the product of that fraction multiplied by \$25.

Depending upon its financial condition and working capital needs prior to the consummation of the Merger, in order to reduce the aggregate amount of cash consideration payable in connection with the Merger, the Company may permit holders of our Series F Preferred Stock, acting on an individual basis, to elect to receive in exchange for their shares of Series F Preferred Stock either: (i) solely Daleen Holdings common stock, (ii) solely cash consideration or (iii) a combination of Daleen Holdings common stock and cash; provided that the maximum aggregate amount of cash to be paid with respect to all shares of Series F Preferred Stock would be less than \$2.8 million, currently the maximum aggregate cash consideration payable to holders of Series F Preferred Stock in the Merger, in which case the maximum aggregate value of Daleen Holdings common stock that would be received by holders of Series F Preferred Stock would be increased by an amount equal to the reduction in the maximum aggregate cash consideration offered to holders of Series F Preferred Stock. Even if this alternative is offered to holders of our Series F Preferred Stock would be affected. The cash consideration offered to holders of our Common Stock and the aggregate value of consideration offered to holders of Series F Preferred Stock would not be impacted in any respect.

Regardless of your election with respect to your Series F Preferred Stock, up to 19% of the aggregate consideration allocable to you will be retained in escrow in accordance with the terms and conditions of the indemnity escrow agreement described in THE MERGER Escrow Arrangement.

Q: How do I choose the form of payment I will receive for my Series F Preferred Stock?

A: To elect the form of payment you prefer for your shares of Series F Preferred Stock, you must complete an election form. An election form, with instructions for making an election as to your preference, together with a return envelope, is being mailed to you at the same time as the mailing of this proxy statement. The fully completed election form must be returned to Dawn Landry, our Vice President and General Counsel, before the election deadline at 5:00 p.m., New York City time, on September 23, 2004. If you fail to make an election prior to the election deadline, you will not be entitled to elect your preferred form of payment, and you will be treated as if you had made an election to receive a combination of cash and Daleen Holdings common stock.

Q: What will Behrman Capital and SEF receive for their shares of Series F Preferred Stock?

A: As of August 20, 2004, Behrman Capital owned 219,744 shares of Series F Preferred Stock, and SEF owned 2,980 shares of Series F Preferred Stock. Behrman Capital and SEF are contractually obligated to exchange all of their Series F Preferred Stock immediately prior to the completion of the Merger for an aggregate consideration of:

50,000 shares of Daleen Holdings preferred stock with an aggregate deemed value of \$5,000,000, plus

105,402 shares of Daleen Holdings common stock with an aggregate deemed value of \$2,635,055.88.

The consideration received by Behrman Capital and SEF for their Series F Preferred differs from that received by other Series F Holders because Behrman and SEF are the only Series F Holders investing additional amounts in Daleen Holdings and because Behrman and SEF agreed to provide a bridge loan facility to us, as more fully discussed in the section of this proxy statement entitled TRANSACTIONS RELATED TO THE MERGER Bridge Loan Facilities . Behrman and SEF s exchange right in respect of the \$5 million in value of their existing Series F Preferred Stock was consideration for the firm commitment to invest \$5 million in Daleen Holdings.

Behrman Capital and SEF will receive the same consideration in the Merger for their shares of our Common Stock as each other holder of our Common Stock. All of the cash allocable in the Merger to Behrman Capital and SEF in respect of their shares of our Common Stock will be retained in escrow in

accordance with the terms and conditions of the indemnity escrow agreement described in THE MERGER Escrow Arrangement.

Q: What will happen to our shares held by Daleen Holdings at the completion of the Merger?

A: Each share of our Common Stock and Series F Preferred Stock held by Daleen Holdings at the completion of the Merger will automatically be cancelled and extinguished, including shares exchanged by Behrman Capital and SEF immediately prior to the Merger. No payment will be made with respect to those shares.

Q: What will happen to us after the Merger?

A: If the Merger is completed, we will survive the Merger as a wholly owned subsidiary of Daleen Holdings. Accordingly, we no longer will be subject to the reporting obligations of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and our Common Stock will no longer be registered pursuant to the Exchange Act. However, as we discussed in our Annual Report on Form 10-K/A for our fiscal year ended December 31, 2003 and our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for our fiscal quarter ended June 30, 2004, we believe that we will need additional funding in the immediate future and will not be able to continue operations beyond the immediate future if the Merger is not completed or Behrman elects to not make further borrowings under the Behrman Facility available to us and alternative funding is not found immediately. The funding requirement would require us to raise additional capital or consider selling all or part of the Company to reduce our operating losses and raise cash. We believe that it is unlikely that we would be able to obtain significant financing through an alternate transaction, which may not be available on acceptable terms, or at all. See SPECIAL FACTORS Plans for the Company.

Q: What will happen to us if the Merger is not completed?

A: It is possible that the Merger will not be completed. That might happen if, for example, any of the conditions to completion of the Merger are not satisfied or, to the extent permitted, waived. If the Merger is not completed for any reason, we will continue to be a publicly-held corporation that is subject to the reporting obligations of the Exchange Act as a result of our registration of our Common Stock pursuant to the Exchange Act, and our Common Stock would continue to be quoted on the OTC Bulletin Board. As discussed in our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for our fiscal quarter ended June 30, 2004, and elsewhere in this proxy statement, we would likely face an immediate need for additional funding that would require us to raise additional capital or to consider selling all or part of the Company to reduce our operating losses and raise cash. In the absence of additional funding, we do not believe that we will be able to continue as a going concern.

Q: Should I send my stock certificates now?

A: No. If you hold certificates representing shares of our Common Stock or Series F Preferred Stock, you will receive detailed written instructions after the Merger explaining how to exchange your certificates for the consideration described in this proxy statement.

Q: What happens if I sell my shares before the effective date of the Merger?

A: If you own shares of our Common Stock or Series F Preferred Stock on the record date for the Special Meeting but you transfer your shares at any time before the effective date of the Merger, you will retain the right to vote at the Special Meeting, but the right to receive the merger consideration associated with the transferred shares will pass to the person to whom you transferred your shares.

Q: When do you expect the Merger to be completed?

A: If the Merger Agreement is approved and adopted at the Special Meeting by the requisite votes of our stockholders, and if the other conditions to the Merger are satisfied or, if permitted, waived, we expect to complete the Merger as promptly as possible after the Special Meeting.

Q: Why is the Board of Directors recommending that I vote in favor of the Merger Agreement?

A: After considering the recommendation for approval of the Merger Agreement by a special committee of our non-employee directors not affiliated with Behrman Capital or any party to a voting agreement, as well as the opinion of the Company s financial advisor, VRC, our Board of Directors has concluded that the terms of the Merger Agreement are advisable, fair to, from a financial point of view, and in the best interests of our stockholders, including unaffiliated stockholders.

Q: What rights do I have if I oppose the Merger?

A: You may dissent from the Merger and seek appraisal of the fair value of your shares by complying with all of the requirements of Delaware law explained in the section of this proxy statement entitled THE MERGER Appraisal Rights. If you comply with those requirements, the Delaware Court of Chancery will appraise, and order payment to you in the amount of, the fair value of your shares by taking into account all relevant factors, exclusive of any value arising from the accomplishment or any expectation of the Merger. The fair value of your shares, as determined by the Delaware Court of Chancery, may be more, the same as or less than the amount you are entitled to receive under the Merger Agreement.

Q: What are the tax consequences of the Merger to me?

A: Generally, a stockholder who receives only cash in the Merger would recognize capital gain or loss equal to the difference between the amount of cash received and the tax basis of the Common Stock exchanged in the Merger. A stockholder who receives Daleen Holdings—stock and cash in the Merger and related share exchange would recognize gain (if any) but not loss in an amount equal to the lesser of: (i) the amount of cash received in the exchange; and (ii) the amount of gain realized in the exchange. A stockholder who receives solely shares of Daleen Holdings—common stock in the Merger would not recognize gain or loss for U.S. federal income tax purposes, except with respect to cash, if any, the stockholder receives in lieu of a fractional share of Daleen Holdings—common stock. See—Material U.S. Federal Income Tax Consequences for a discussion of material U.S. federal income tax consequences of the Merger to the Company—s stockholders. HOLDERS OF COMMON STOCK AND SERIES F PREFERRED STOCK SHOULD CONSULT THEIR OWN TAX ADVISORS AS TO THE PARTICULAR TAX CONSEQUENCES TO THEM OF THE MERGER, INCLUDING THE APPLICABILITY AND EFFECT OF ANY STATE, LOCAL OR FOREIGN TAX LAWS AND OF CHANGES IN APPLICABLE TAX LAWS.

Q: What is the quorum requirement for the Special Meeting?

A: The holders of a majority of the total shares of our Common Stock and Series F Preferred Stock, determined on a 100 for 1 basis, issued and outstanding on the record date, whether present at the Special Meeting in person or represented by proxy, will constitute a quorum for the transaction of business at the Special Meeting. The shares held by each stockholder who signs and returns the enclosed proxy card(s) will be counted for the purposes of determining the presence of a quorum at the Special Meeting, whether or not the stockholder abstains on any matter to be acted on at the Special Meeting. Abstentions and broker non-votes both will be counted toward fulfillment of quorum requirements.

Q: What is the voting requirement to adopt and approve the Merger Agreement?

A: The Merger is subject to the approval by the affirmative vote of the holders of a majority of the votes represented by all shares of our Common Stock and Series F Preferred Stock outstanding as of August 20, 2004, with each share of Series F Preferred Stock being entitled to 100 votes. In addition, the consummation of the Merger will require the affirmative vote or written consent of the holders of a majority of the shares of our Series F Preferred Stock in favor of the waiver of the mandatory redemption rights of our Series F Preferred Stock in connection with the Merger. That affirmative vote or written consent has been acquired separately from this proxy statement.

The Quadrangle Investors have entered into separate voting agreements with SAIC Venture Capital Corporation, Behrman Capital, SEF, HarbourVest Partners V Direct Fund L.P. and HarbourVest

Partners VI Direct Fund, L.P. pursuant to which they have agreed to vote all of their shares of our Common Stock and Series F Preferred Stock in favor of the approval and adoption of the Merger Agreement at the Special Meeting. In addition, these stockholders have agreed in their respective Voting Agreements with the Quadrangle Investors to waive the mandatory redemption rights of our Series F Preferred Stock in connection with the Merger. As of August 20, 2004, the record date for the Special Meeting, stockholders party to the separate Voting Agreements held an aggregate of approximately 71% of the combined voting power of our outstanding Common Stock and Series F Preferred Stock, which is sufficient voting power in and of itself to approve the Merger Agreement and the waiver of the mandatory redemption rights of our Series F Preferred Stock in connection with the Merger. See SPECIAL FACTORS Voting Agreements.

If you are a beneficial owner and do not provide the stockholder of record (i.e., a broker) with voting instructions, your shares may constitute broker non-votes. In tabulating the voting results, shares that constitute broker non-votes are not considered entitled to vote on that proposal.

Even if approved by the stockholders, our Board of Directors retains the right to determine, in its sole discretion, whether or not to proceed with the Merger Agreement and the Merger. See SPECIAL FACTORS Reservation of Rights.

O: How are votes counted?

A: You can vote FOR, AGAINST or ABSTAIN. If you ABSTAIN, it has the same effect as a vote AGAINST. If you sign and return you proxy card or broker voting instruction card with no further instructions, your shares will be voted FOR Proposal One in accordance with the recommendation of the Board of Directors. Broker non-votes will have no effect on the outcome of the vote on any proposal at the Special Meeting.

Q: Can I change my vote?

A: You may change your proxy instructions at any time prior to the vote at the Special Meeting. For shares held directly in your name, you may change your vote by granting a new proxy bearing a later date, which automatically revokes the earlier dated proxy, or by attending the Special Meeting and voting in person. Attendance at the Special Meeting will not cause your previously granted proxy to be revoked unless you specifically so request. For shares held beneficially by you, you may change your vote by submitting new voting instructions to your broker or nominee

Q: What does it mean if I receive more than one proxy card or voting instruction card?

A: There is a proxy card for record holders of our Common Stock and a separate proxy card for record holders of our Series F Preferred Stock. If you receive more than one proxy card or voting instruction card, it means your shares are registered differently or are in more than one account, or you own both our Common Stock and Series F Preferred Stock. Please provide voting instructions for all proxy cards and voting instruction cards you receive.

Q: Where can I find the voting results of the Special Meeting?

A: We will announce preliminary voting results at the Special Meeting, and we will publish final results in a Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission promptly after the Special Meeting.

Q: What happens if additional proposals are presented at the Special Meeting?

A: Other than the proposal described in this proxy statement, we do not expect any other matters to be presented for a vote at the Special Meeting. If you grant us your proxy, the persons named as proxy holders, Gordon Quick, our President and Chief Executive Officer, and Dawn Landry, our Vice President and General Counsel, will have the discretion to vote your shares on any additional matters properly presented for a vote at the Special Meeting.

Q: Who will count the votes?

A: SunTrust Bank, our Transfer Agent, has been appointed the inspector of election and will send a representative to tabulate the votes and act as the inspector of election.

Q: Who will bear the cost of soliciting votes for the Special Meeting?

A: We are making this solicitation and will pay the entire cost of preparing, assembling, printing, mailing and distributing these proxy materials. In addition to the mailing of these proxy materials, the solicitation of proxies or votes may be made in person or by telephone by our directors, officers and employees, none of whom will receive any additional compensation for such solicitation activities. We will also reimburse brokerage houses and other custodians, nominees and fiduciaries for their reasonable out-of-pocket expenses for forwarding proxy and solicitation materials to stockholders. We may consider retaining a proxy solicitation firm. In the event that we choose to retain such a firm, we will bear all of their fees, costs and expenses.

Q: Who can help to answer my questions?

A: If you would like additional copies of this proxy statement, which will be provided to you without charge, or if you have questions about the Merger Agreement or the Merger, including the procedures for voting your shares, you should contact:

Dawn Landry

Vice President and General Counsel Daleen Technologies, Inc. 902 Clint Moore Road, Suite 230 Boca Raton, Florida 33487 (561) 981-2106

20

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This proxy statement, including its appendices, contains forward-looking statements. These forward-looking statements are not historical facts but are the intent, belief or current expectations, of our business and industry, and the assumptions upon which these statements are based. may, intends, will, would, should, plans, Words such as anticipates, expects, could, believes, seeks, estimates and varia the negatives thereof and similar expressions are intended to identify forward-looking statements. These statements are not guarantees of future performance and are subject to risks, uncertainties, and other factors, some of which are beyond our control, are difficult to predict and could cause actual results to differ materially from those expressed or forecasted in the forward-looking statements. These risks and uncertainties include those described in this proxy statement, including in its appendices and in documents incorporated by reference. Forward-looking statements that were true at the time they were made may ultimately prove to be incorrect or false. Forward looking statements included in this proxy statement including its appendices, or otherwise made in relation to the Merger are not protected under the safe harbors of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. You are cautioned to not place undue reliance on forward-looking statements, which reflect management s view only as of the time of such statements. We undertake no obligation to update or revise forward-looking statements to reflect changed assumptions, the occurrence of unanticipated events or changes to future operating results.

21

SPECIAL FACTORS

Parties to the Merger and Other Relevant Parties

Daleen Technologies, Inc. We are a global provider of advanced billing and customer care, event management, and revenue assurance software for convergent communication service providers and other technology solutions providers. Our solutions are designed using the latest open Internet technologies to enable providers to enhance operational efficiency while deriving maximum revenue from their products and services. Our products and services are used by communication providers to support a variety of voice, data and Internet-based services across wireless, wireline and satellite networks. Our RevChain® billing and customer management and AsuritiTM event management and revenue assurance applications deliver proven interoperability with other legacy billing systems and other downstream operational support systems applications, and have a high degree of flexibility and scalability, making the software highly adaptable and ready for the future. RevChain and Asuriti can be purchased as licensed software applications or as part of a turn-key solution through BillingCentral®, our carrier-class outsourcing operation.

We are a Delaware corporation with principal executive offices at 902 Clint Moore Road, Suite 230, Boca Raton, Florida 33487. Additional information about us can be found in our Annual Report on Form 10-K/A for our fiscal year ended December 31, 2003, a copy of which is attached to this proxy statement as Appendix D, and our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for our fiscal quarter ended June 30, 2004, a copy of which is attached to this proxy statement as Appendix E.

Daleen Holdings. Daleen Holdings is a newly formed Delaware corporation. Daleen Holdings has no prior operations and is not expected to have any operations prior to the consummation of the Merger, except for its performance of its obligations under the Merger Agreement and the other agreements contemplated by the Merger Agreement or otherwise discussed in this proxy statement. Concurrent with the execution and delivery of the Merger Agreement, the Quadrangle Investors, Behrman and SEF entered into an investment agreement pursuant to and subject to the terms and conditions of which they agreed to invest an aggregate of \$30 million in Daleen Holdings upon completion of the Merger in consideration of the issuance by Daleen Holdings to them of shares of Daleen Holdings preferred stock. Behrman Capital and SEF have committed to invest an aggregate of \$5 million under the investment agreement, which amount may be satisfied by Behrman and SEF to the extent they transfer to Daleen Holdings any notes that evidence our outstanding indebtedness to them at the time of the Merger under the bridge loan facility between Behrman Capital and us. Holders of our Series F Preferred Stock may participate in the investment made by Behrman Capital and SEF, on a pro rata basis among other participating holders, with the maximum amount that may be invested by holders of Series F Preferred Stock being \$1.0 million, in the aggregate. None of the holders of Series F Preferred Stock elected to participate in this investment. Concurrent with the completion of the Merger, Daleen Holdings has agreed to purchase all of the outstanding capital stock of Protek Telecommunications Solutions Limited. The principal executive offices of Daleen Holdings are located at 902 Clint Moore Road, Suite 230, Boca Raton, Florida 33487.

Upon completion of the Merger and the other transactions contemplated by the Merger Agreement, Protek acquisition agreement and the Investment Agreement, the outstanding shares of Daleen Holdings will be held such that (i) the Daleen Holdings Preferred Stock will represent 73.53% of the outstanding capital stock of Daleen Holdings, calculated on an as-converted basis, and will be held by the Quadrangle Investors, Behrman Capital, SEF and any others holders of Series F Preferred Stock electing to participate in the cash investment pursuant to the terms of the Investment Agreement and (ii) the Daleen Holdings Common Stock will represent 26.47% of the outstanding capital stock of Daleen Holdings, calculated on an as-converted basis, and will be held by holders of Series F Preferred Stock converting into such equity upon completion of the Merger and certain holders of Protek equity or equity acquisition rights upon the acquisition of Protek.

Parallel Acquisition. Parallel Acquisition is a newly formed Delaware corporation and a wholly owned subsidiary of Daleen Holdings. Parallel Acquisition was formed solely for the purpose of merging

with and into us in the Merger. Parallel Acquisition has no prior operations and is not expected to have any operations prior to the consummation of the Merger. Parallel Acquisition will be merged with and into us, with us surviving the Merger as a subsidiary of Daleen Holdings. Parallel Acquisition s principal executive offices are located at 902 Clint Moore Road, Suite 230, Boca Raton, Florida 33487.

Behrman Capital II, L.P. Behrman Capital, a Delaware limited partnership, is an investment firm that principally backs experienced management teams in the purchases of businesses they operate by investing in management buyouts, leveraged buildups and recapitalizations of established growth companies and providing expansion capital to emerging growth companies. The firm currently has a combined capital base of approximately \$1.8 billion. Behrman Capital s investments have historically been focused in four industries information technology, outsourcing, business services and contract manufacturing.

As of August 20, 2004, the record date of the Special Meeting Behrman Capital was the beneficial owner of 58,863,523 shares of our Common Stock and 219,744 shares of Series F Preferred Stock. If the Merger and related transactions are completed, and (a) assuming that no holder of Series F Preferred Stock elects to convert fully into Daleen Holdings common stock in the Merger and (b) treating the options granted to certain parties to the Protek acquisition agreement as having been exercised in full, it is expected that Behrman Capital and SEF will beneficially own approximately 29% of the then issued and outstanding shares of Daleen Holdings preferred stock and approximately 21% of the then issued and outstanding shares of Daleen Holdings common stock (assuming no participation by holders of Series F Preferred Stock in the \$5 million investment by Behrman Capital and SEF in Daleen Holdings). Behrman Capital s principal executive offices are located at 126 East 56th Street, 27th Floor, New York, NY 10022.

Strategic Entrepreneur Fund II, L.P. Strategic Entrepreneur Fund II, L.P. is a Delaware limited partnership and an affiliate of Behrman Capital. SEF is an investment firm that historically has participated in the same investment opportunities as Behrman Capital. As of August 20, 2004, the record date for the Special Meeting, SEF was the beneficial owner of 790,579 shares of our Common Stock and 2,980 shares of Series F Preferred Stock. SEF s principal executive offices are located at 126 East 56th Street, 27th Floor, New York, NY 10022.

Quadrangle Investors. Quadrangle Capital Partners LP, a Delaware limited partnership, is a private equity fund that primarily invests in the media and communications sectors. Quadrangle Group LLC, which manages Quadrangle Capital Partners LP, was formed by four former Managing Directors of Lazard Freres & Co. LLC who have more than 60 years combined experience in private equity and in media and communications. The Quadrangle Investors have capital commitments from their partners in excess of \$1 billion, of which \$419 million remains available as of June 30, 2004.

Concurrent with the completion of the Merger, Quadrangle Capital Partners LP and two of its affiliates, Quadrangle Select Partners LP and Quadrangle Capital Partners-A LP, will invest \$25 million in cash in Daleen Holdings in exchange for shares of Daleen Holdings preferred stock. If the Merger and related transactions are completed, it is expected that the Quadrangle Investors will own approximately 71% of the then issued and outstanding shares of Daleen Holdings preferred stock and will control the right to designate a majority of the directors of Daleen Holdings. Quadrangle Capital Partner s principal executive offices, and the principal executive offices of the other Quadrangle Investors, are located at 375 Park Avenue, New York, New York 10152.

Protek Telecommunications Solutions Limited. Protek is a corporation organized under the laws of England and Wales and is a leading provider of customer care and billing, network management and real-time inventory solutions to next-generation service providers, utilities and large government agencies. More than 70 customers in over 35 countries utilize Protek s services. Protek employs approximately 250 persons globally. In addition to its principal executive offices located at 1 York Road, Maidenhead, Berkshire, United Kingdom, Protek has offices in Europe, Russia, Africa and the Middle East.

Concurrent with the execution and delivery of the Merger Agreement, Daleen Holdings agreed to purchase all shares of the outstanding capital stock of Protek for aggregate consideration of up to \$20 million, consisting of up to \$13 million in cash, \$5 million in common stock of Daleen Holdings, and

contingent post-closing performance bonuses consisting of \$1 million in cash and \$1 million of common stock of Daleen Holdings. The purchase price will be subject to reduction in respect of closing date debt and working capital shortfalls. Upon completion of the transactions described in this proxy statement, it is expected that Daleen Holdings will combine our operations with those of Protek.

Gordon Quick. Gordon Quick currently is a Director on our Board of Directors and our President and Chief Executive Officer. If the Merger is completed, Mr. Quick would become the Chief Executive Officer of Daleen Holdings pursuant to the terms of an employment agreement between Mr. Quick and Daleen Holdings. Mr. Quick also would be a director of Daleen Holdings and would be eligible to participate in Daleen Holdings management incentive plan. Mr. Quick is party to a retention bonus arrangement, with the bonus amount specified in a separate side letter. As long as Mr. Quick remains employed by the Company at the earlier of (i) the completion of the Merger or (ii) May 6, 2005, the first anniversary of the side letter, a retention bonus of \$200,000 is payable to Mr. Quick by the Company. The bonus amount also is payable if Mr. Quick were to be terminated without cause or if he were to resign for good reason.

Background of the Merger

In December 2002, the Company concluded a transaction in which we acquired substantially all of the assets of Abiliti Solutions, Inc. (Abiliti). In 2001, while serving as the Chief Executive Officer of Abiliti, Mr. Quick and his management team concluded that the recent fundamental changes in the telecommunications market made the future of small service providers like Abiliti and the Company untenable as stand-alone entities. Abiliti, and subsequently the Company, came to believe that aggregation of small service providers, including the Company, would be required to ensure the long-term viability of these companies. The Company believed that additional scale was necessary to support research and development and market activities for larger customers in a consolidating market. This strategy has been a part of the Company s business plan since the acquisition of the assets of Abiliti. Throughout 2003 and 2004, and until approval of the Merger and related transactions, management and the Board of Directors discussed the validity and status of this strategy at every regularly scheduled meeting of the Board of Directors. Furthermore, the Board of Directors reviewed the strategic options of the Company at its regularly scheduled meetings beginning in October 2003, and again in December 2003 and February 2004. At each meeting, the Board of Directors reaffirmed the need to continue to pursue the aggregation strategy and related activities.

In furtherance of this strategy, the Company engaged in discussions with numerous small providers regarding possible business combinations. In the course of these discussions and meetings, the Company made several preliminary offers, both formal and informal, that were either rejected or whereby the Company ultimately came to the view that the transaction did not fit the business strategy of the Company and chose not to pursue the transaction.

Of the 35 potential candidates with whom we ultimately spoke, 27 chose to discontinue negotiations. The reasons for their lack of interest were varied. Some firms did not believe that a merger provided sufficient strategic benefits to justify a transaction with the Company. Other companies felt that they could extract a higher value for their shareholders by waiting until a later date to pursue a merger or acquisition and believed that they had sufficient financial resources to wait. Still others believed that the merger consideration that the Company could offer was not attractive for a variety of reasons, including the lack of public market liquidity, the Series F Liquidation Preference and the lack of ongoing cash required to fund a combined entity. In each of these discussions, we attempted to use the Company equity as the consideration offered to the other aggregation candidates due to our lack of cash. In each situation in which we had a serious interest in the potential target candidate and in which discussions developed to include negotiation of consideration, the target candidate was not interested in taking any form of Company stock. Consequently, it became clear from all discussions that we would have to find an investor willing to provide some amount of cash for acquisitions, to restructure our balance sheet to eliminate the Series F Liquidation Preference or both.

The Company chose to end negotiations with six candidates that expressed some level of interest in a transaction with the Company. These firms generally had limited revenue and needed an infusion of cash to launch or stabilize their core business. The Company s strategy specifically excluded raising capital to fund ongoing operations, which eliminated these companies from consideration. In some cases, as we pursued the due diligence process, we also concluded that certain companies did not fit our overall strategy.

In addition, despite contacts with numerous companies, frequently at the Board and/or larger investor level, as well as with management, the Company received only one expression of interest to acquire the Company. After an extensive second meeting with the interested company, the interested party declined to pursue acquisition of the Company.

Protek was introduced to us in early 2003 by Kaufman Brothers, with whom we had a long-standing relationship. During our process of exploring aggregations with potential candidates, Protek emerged as the most attractive candidate in that the Company felt that a transaction with Protek would provide significant strategic benefits, and Protek was willing to consider a transaction with the Company. However, Protek was only interested if the Company was willing to offer a significant amount of cash consideration. In June 2003, the Company executed a Non-Disclosure Agreement with Protek and began preliminary discussions related to a potential acquisition of Protek by the Company. A key consideration for us then became finding an investor or investors willing to invest a significant amount of cash to facilitate the acquisition.

On October 23, 2003, the Board of Directors met and formally discussed the financial condition and long-term viability of the Company. Management informed the Board of Directors that it had evaluated 59 additional targets for business combinations, had spoken to 35 candidates, and had not been able to reach an agreement for a possible business combination with any of the companies. The Board of Directors discussed these results and the reasons for the difficulty in executing the aggregation strategy, including the facts that the Company did not have sufficient funds to include a cash component in an acquisition offer and that acquisition targets generally had rejected offers involving consideration consisting solely of our Common Stock, as they did not attribute meaningful value to the Common Stock due to the volatility of our industry in the public markets and the liquidation preference attributed to the Series F Preferred Stock (the Series F Liquidation Preference). In addition, none of the candidates was interested in a transaction in which the Company issued shares of Series F Preferred Stock as consideration. The Board of Directors authorized our management to seek an additional investment in the Company from current and/or new investors to facilitate the Company s aggregation strategy. After reviewing the Company s business plan, financial condition and business prospects, the Board of Directors also decided to evaluate the possibility of going private. As part of that analysis, the Board of Directors considered the relative advantages and disadvantages of continuing as a public company to both the Company and its stockholders, particularly in light of the anticipated costs of continuing as a public company, which the Board of Directors determined to be significant and likely to increase as a result of legal and regulatory changes. In addition, the Board of Directors determined that being a public company was not facilitating the closure of a transaction with any of the aggregation candidates surfaced by

While going private was not expected to address all the impediments to the execution of the Company strategy, the Board felt that going private was a prudent and highly desirable measure that would reduce the operating expense of the Company, contribute to long-term cash conservation and facilitate a strategic combination in the future. In addition, in continuing meetings with potential investors, all but one seemed to be more interested in investing in a private company rather than a public company. Hence, the Company believed that being a private company would significantly increase the likelihood of obtaining new capital. The Board of Directors authorized our management to investigate the possibility of going private in parallel with seeking additional investment and aggregation opportunities.

On September 4, 2003, a representative of the Company met with a representative of Quadrangle Capital Partners LP at a widely attended industry conference sponsored by Kaufman Brothers in New York City. The Company s strategy was shared broadly with Quadrangle Capital Partners to determine if there was any interest on their part in considering an investment in the Company.

On October 15, 2003, a Quadrangle representative and a colleague met with Gordon Quick and another representative of the Company at Quadrangle Capital Partners office in New York City to discuss the Company s business and strategic objectives in more detail. The discussion focused on the need for consolidation in the industry, the Company s strategic position and the role that the Company could play in the execution of such a strategy. The Company s representatives provided a detailed history of the Company to Quadrangle. This meeting and subsequent phone conversations on the same subjects, as well as discussions regarding the performance of the Company s business and the support of the Company s Board, led to the signing of a Non-Disclosure Agreement with Quadrangle Advisors LLC on November 13, 2003, which allowed us to share non-public information with Quadrangle Advisors and its affiliates and to enter into more formal discussions related to an investment in the Company.

At a regularly scheduled meeting on December 16, 2003, the Board of Directors discussed the status of discussions with potential investors as well as the status of the discussions with certain aggregation candidates. The Board of Directors discussed the terms of a non-binding proposal to be presented to Protek (the Company would offer a combination of cash and securities, in the range of \$20 to \$25 million, with a portion of \$15 to \$20 million being in cash and the balance in Company preferred stock for the outstanding equity of Protek). During this meeting the Board agreed that management should continue to pursue an acquisition of Protek. At this meeting, the Board of Directors also discussed the possibility of going private through a reverse stock split. The Board of Directors authorized management to continue to pursue the alternatives in parallel because there was no guarantee that the Company would be successful in obtaining an investor or a suitable aggregation candidate.

Based on an ongoing exchange of information and continuing in-depth discussions regarding the Company s financial results, products, customers, and operations, representatives of Quadrangle Capital Partners met with the Company s management team at our headquarters in Florida on December 19, 2003. Also, in December 2003, the Company presented a non-binding proposal to Protek setting forth the principal terms as outlined above, which was accepted by Protek as a basis on which to continue discussions and negotiations related to the acquisition of Protek by the Company. Discussions continued with Quadrangle Capital Partners directed at setting expectations for a next meeting, and on January 9, 2004, Company management met with additional representatives of Quadrangle Capital Partners in New York and reiterated the previous discussions with the primary Quadrangle contact. Quadrangle s representative at the meeting indicated that any investment by Quadrangle would likely require a concurrent merger or other acquisition that broadened the scale and scope of the Company, and Quadrangle also indicated that any such transaction would only occur if the holders of Series F Preferred Stock were willing to waive a significant portion of the liquidation preference, given that any contemplated transaction value would be less than the Series F Liquidation Preference. Quadrangle asked to speak to Behrman Capital, as the largest holder of Series F Preferred Stock, to confirm its willingness to support a transaction in which it received less than its share of the Series F Liquidation Preference. The Company recognized that additional capital would be required to complete the Protek transaction and the Company began to focus primarily on Quadrangle as the most likely source of financing.

On January 14, 2004, a Quadrangle representative met with an individual who is a Director of the Company and a member of Behrman Brothers, L.L.C., an investment firm that is the general partner of Behrman Capital, to discuss the direction of the conversations with the Company to that point and the likelihood that such conversations could realistically lead to a definitive agreement. Quadrangle and Behrman discussed the potential support of the Board of Directors and Behrman, the Company s largest shareholder, for a change of control transaction that would result in a writedown to the value of the Series F Preferred Stock and the willingness of Behrman to remain fully invested in the Company and to invest incrementally in the transaction along side Quadrangle.

Also on January 14, 2004, we retained Mann Frankfort Stein & Lipp CPAs, L.L.P. (Mann Frankfort) to render an opinion, from a financial point of view, as to the fairness of the consideration to be received for any fractional shares by the holders of our Common Stock in a proposed reverse stock split.

On January 20, 2004, our Board of Directors held a special meeting to continue discussions related to the proposed reverse stock split. The Board reviewed the status of all other discussions regarding other options (new investors) as well as the basic merits of the reverse split. At the time that the Company decided to move forward with the reverse split transaction, the Company had no indication of a definitive interest of another party in any other form of transaction, despite ongoing meetings and discussions with potential investors. Further, the Board believed that the reverse split and going private would only serve to facilitate an investment in the event that a more defined interest arose. Furthermore, the Company s deteriorating cash position necessitated that all measures be considered that could result in immediate and meaningful cost savings without impairing the Company s ability to generate revenue and operate as a going concern. At the meeting, our Board of Directors appointed a special committee consisting of Messrs. John McCarthy (Chairman), Daniel Foreman and Stephen Getsy. The members of that special committee ratified the retention of Mann Frankfort.

In considering the range of possible prices for the reverse stock split, it was the recommendation of our management that the Special Committee approve a price that would be substantially in excess of the amount to which holders of our Common Stock would be entitled on a liquidation, notwithstanding its belief that a much lower price (one only nominally in excess of zero cents per share, representing solely a speculative option value) would have been fair to cashed out holders of our Common Stock. Management recommended that the Special Committee adopt a price that would be closer to the then current trading value of our Common Stock, on the grounds that (a) the premium would appease the shareholders receiving cash for their stock since they would not be forced to forego the premium available if the stock were sold in the public market; and (b) the premium was reasonable when compared to the anticipated cost savings from going private.

On January 26, 2004, the Special Committee held a special meeting to obtain an update from management on the progress of the preparations by management and Mann Frankfort related to the meeting scheduled for January 27, 2004 to address the proposed reverse stock split.

On January 27, 2004, in a meeting of the special committee, Mann Frankfort delivered its fairness opinion to the special committee. The special committee discussed the terms of the proposed reverse stock split, the fairness opinion of Mann Frankfort, the methodologies employed by Mann Frankfort and other considerations related to the reverse stock split. At the meeting, the special committee unanimously recommended to the Board of Directors that it was in the Company s best interests and the best interests of its stockholders, including unaffiliated stockholders, to approve the proposed reverse stock split. The terms of the reverse stock split were as follows:

The Company would effect a one to 500 reverse stock split;

Shareholders holding less than 500 shares and shareholders holding fractional shares post-split would be paid \$0.30 for each pre-split share, an amount consistent with the then current trading value of our Common Stock;

The total consideration expected to be paid to the holders of fractional shares was less than \$200,000, which was an aggregate amount that the Company was able to pay at that time;

Only approximately 113 record shareholders were expected to be cashed out in the reverse split; and

The resulting number of record shareholders would be less than 300, and the Company would cease to be a reporting company, thereby enabling the Company to immediately implement significant cost savings.

On January 27, 2004, immediately following the meeting of the special committee, the Board of Directors held a special meeting, with all directors present. After further discussion during which the Board saw no change in the situation of the Company that would affect its original rationale for endorsing the reverse split, the Board of Directors determined that it was in the Company s best interests and the best interests of its stockholders, including unaffiliated stockholders, to effect the proposed reverse stock

split. The Board of Directors also unanimously recommended that its stockholders vote in favor of a proposal to amend the Company s Certificate of Incorporation to enable us to effect the proposed reverse stock split and related transactions according to the proposed terms and to go private. The Board of Directors unanimously determined that a reverse stock split was the most efficient means to reduce the number of stockholders sufficiently to permit the Company to go private, given the limited funds available to the Company to facilitate such a transaction. Our Board of Directors determined, based on the number of stockholders with a nominal number of shares, that a reverse stock split ratio of one-for-500 shares of our Common Stock was the appropriate ratio to reduce the number of record holders to less than 300. A preliminary proxy statement relating to the requisite stockholder approval of the proposed reverse stock split was filed with the SEC on January 28, 2004. The Board also determined that, given the declining cash balance of the Company and the uncertainty regarding future sales, the Company should continue to pursue alternatives, including a possible issuance of new equity or a merger that would supersede the authorized stock split, and the Board of Directors authorized management to continue to pursue these alternatives.

Given the continuing discussions with Quadrangle Capital Partners and other activities and options being explored by the Company, including ongoing discussions with aggregation candidates and potential investors, members of the Board of Directors wanted a clearer indication of the level of interest of Quadrangle Capital Partners and requested that management seek a more specific determination of their interest. An ongoing exchange of information, including operational, financial and sales pipelines, and further discussions regarding valuations of other providers of operations support services led to the initial expression of interest by Quadrangle Capital Partners in the form of a non-binding term sheet dated January 30, 2004. The initial term sheet proposed a valuation of .75 to 1.0 times revenue which was at the low end of the Company s expectations. Quadrangle s interest was dependent upon (i) the acquisition of Protek, (ii) a minimum investment by Quadrangle of \$20 million and (iii) the conversion of all Series F Preferred Stock to Common Stock. The underlying security was proposed as a PIK preferred or participating PIK preferred security. Management spent time with representatives of Quadrangle Capital Partners to discuss each element of the proposal and to fully understand their proposal so that it could be presented to the Board of Directors.

In early February 2004, representatives of the Company spent several days in London for meetings with representatives of Protek in furtherance of the due diligence process. We discussed their products in detail as well as historical financial results. We also discussed the compatibility of the companies cultures and addressed the roles of various members of the Protek team.

At a meeting on February 19, 2004, the Board of Directors formed the Special Committee and appointed Mr. John McCarthy as Chairman and Messrs. Daniel Foreman and Stephen Getsy as members of the Special Committee. The Board of Directors directed the Special Committee to consider the feasibility and terms of any proposed investment in the Company or aggregation opportunity, including consideration of the fairness of any such investment or aggregation opportunity and any other factors that the Special Committee deemed appropriate, to participate in any negotiations with a potential investor or aggregation candidate as the Special Committee deemed appropriate and to recommend to the entire Board of Directors whether or not any such transaction is in the best interests of the Company and its stockholders. The Board of Directors reviewed all the strategic and business options available to the Company, including the Protek acquisition and the draft, non-binding proposal made by Quadrangle Capital Partners, and authorized management to concurrently continue negotiating with Quadrangle Capital Partners and pursuing the Protek acquisition. The Board approved a counter proposal to Quadrangle focused initially on the key issues of valuation, form of security, and the dividend rate. The management of the Company was given a range within which to negotiate further with Quadrangle.

On February 25, 2004, representatives of the Company and Quadrangle met to discuss the potential for an investment in the Company in conjunction with an acquisition of Protek and further negotiate key terms.

On March 9, 2004, a representative of Quadrangle met with an individual who is a Director of the Company and a member of Behrman Brothers, L.L.C., an investment firm that is the general partner of Behrman Capital, to further discuss the terms and conditions of an investment in the Company, including Behrman s required financial participation in the transaction.

Negotiations with Quadrangle over valuation and other key terms continued during early March as the Company sought to maximize the value of the consideration offered to the Company s stockholders. The Company provided additional information to Quadrangle during this time, including information the Company had gathered in the due diligence process with Protek.

The Company made a counter proposal on March 1, 2004, without significant movement by Quadrangle. During early March, the Company made another proposal to Quadrangle. This counter proposal included a suggestion that Quadrangle consider a total valuation of \$38 million for both Protek and the Company. The Company believed that it could then possibly negotiate a lower valuation with Protek allowing the Company shareholders to benefit by having a larger proportion of the total valuation go toward the value of the Company. Quadrangle agreed to consider such a structure depending upon the outcome of ongoing negotiations and due diligence with each of the Company and Protek. Quadrangle eventually responded with another proposal.

On March 12, 2004, the Special Committee met with Mr. Quick to discuss the status of both the proposed funding being sought and discussions with Protek management. At that meeting, they reviewed the status of each proposed transaction, since each was critical to and dependent upon the other. The Company s management and representatives of Quadrangle Capital Partners continued to discuss and make revisions to the term sheet over the ensuing days, including with respect to valuation, investment by Behrman and performance hurdles that could trigger changes to the terms of Quadrangle s proposed preferred security. Quadrangle subsequently agreed to a valuation of 1.0 times revenue for each company for an approximate combined value of \$38 million.

On March 15, 2004, the Company presented a counter-proposal regarding the events that could trigger changes to the terms of Quadrangle s proposed preferred security.

The Special Committee met with Mr. Quick and Dawn Landry, the Company s Vice President and General Counsel, again on March 15, 2004 and discussed the status of the negotiations with Quadrangle Capital Partners and the terms of the term sheet. The Special Committee approved and authorized Mr. Quick to sign a non-binding term sheet based on the negotiation points discussed. On March 17, 2004, the Company executed a non-binding term sheet with Quadrangle Capital Partners. The term sheet included the following terms:

\$38 million valuation for the Company and the acquisition of Protek;

Quadrangle security would be senior PIK preferred with a dividend of 8%;

Initial investment amount of \$25 million to \$30 million with Quadrangle investing \$25 million and a required investment from existing Company shareholders of \$5 million;

Resulting company must be a private company with existing Company common stockholders shares to be redeemed for cash;

Existing Company preferred shareholders would receive a maximum of \$5 million cash with the balance in new company stock;

Behrman would receive \$5 million of its existing securities in senior PIK preferred;

Rachet of Quadrangle investment in the event the Company under performs; and

Investment contingent on closing of Protek transaction.

Having finalized the preliminary negotiations between the Company and Quadrangle, on March 18 and 19, 2004 representatives of Behrman Capital, Quadrangle Capital Partners and the Company met with representatives of Protek in London to discuss the financial results, products, customers, pipeline and

operations of Protek and to conduct on-site due diligence in contemplation of a potential acquisition of Protek.

During the week of March 22, 2004, the Company s management met with representatives of Quadrangle Capital Partners to discuss the proposed acquisition of Protek, the status of the due diligence conducted with respect to Protek and the Company s integration plan for the combined company. The Company s management and representatives of Quadrangle Capital Partners together developed the business terms to be proposed to Protek. On March 26, 2004, management spoke individually with members of the Special Committee and received approval for submission of the offer to Protek. On March 27, 2004 an executed proposal was sent to Protek.

During the week of March 29, 2004, the Company s management continued to explore the appropriate structure for the transaction and to negotiate terms of the proposed investment and the acquisition of Protek. Protek proposed revisions to the letter of intent which were discussed among the parties, including the Company, Quadrangle and Protek.

On April 2, 2004, the Special Committee met with Mr. Quick, Ms. Landry and the Company s counsel to discuss the terms of a revised letter of intent to be delivered to Protek. A revised proposal was then sent to Protek with the approval of the Special Committee.

The Special Committee also discussed the proposed structure of the transaction, including an investment by Quadrangle Capital Partners in a holding company, a merger of a subsidiary of the holding company with the Company and an acquisition by the holding company of all of the outstanding stock of Protek. Given that the Company had not finalized the reverse stock split allowing the Company to go private and that the timing and certainty of closing were key considerations of both Protek and Quadrangle in the evaluation of a potential transaction, the Special Committee determined that the best alternative to maximize value for the largest number of stockholders was to terminate the proposed reverse stock split and effect the going-private transaction as a part of the transaction with Protek and Quadrangle.

The Special Committee also discussed alternative approaches to the distribution of cash and stock consideration in the acquisition of the Company. The key consideration was the split of the consideration between the common and preferred shareholders. The discussion ranged from a high of 10% to a low of 0% going to the common shareholders. The 10% level was an initial estimate made by management based on the maximum amount that the Company believed the preferred shareholders would agree to, given that the Series F Liquidation Preference greatly exceeded any likely realizable value of the Company and that the change of control transaction being considered by the Board of Directors would trigger the Series F Liquidation Preference.

The Special Committee felt that it was important to get an external opinion as to the fairness of the allocation of consideration among our stockholders. Toward this end, the Special Committee reviewed information provided by VRC summarizing the services they offer as well as their experience and a list of clients. The Special Committee also considered quotations from VRC and Mann Frankfort for a fairness opinion for the proposed financing and acquisition and authorized an engagement letter on behalf of the Special Committee with VRC.

On April 5, 2004, Protek, the Company and Quadrangle Capital Partner executed a non-binding letter of intent. The terms of the letter of intent included the following:

Acquisition of Protek stock by a new company that owns 100% of the Company stock;

Purchase price of \$20 million, consisting of \$13 million in cash, \$5 million in common stock of the new holding company and a potential \$2 million earn out (consisting of up to \$1 million in cash and up to \$1 million in common stock of the new holding company) available to continuing senior management of Protek; and

Company to provide a bridge loan facility not to exceed \$1.5 million.

30

During the remainder of April 2004 and the first week of May 2004, the Company s management and representatives of Quadrangle Capital Partners completed their respective due diligence on Protek while Quadrangle completed its due diligence on the Company and the management of the Company. Concurrently, Protek, the Company s management and Quadrangle Capital Partners negotiated the agreements necessary to sign definitive documentation of the proposed acquisition of Protek.

On April 8, 2004, the Special Committee met and discussed the most recent developments related to the potential investment in the Company and the proposed acquisition of Protek. These developments included the likely structure of the transaction, including funding of a new company and its acquisition of both the Company and Protek, ongoing due diligence and likely timing of closing. The Company s management also informed the Special Committee of a stockholder lawsuit filed in Delaware Chancery Court objecting to the proposed reverse stock split.

Also on April 8, 2004, the Board of Directors met and discussed the status of the proposed investment in the Company and the proposed acquisition of Protek. This review included the specifics of the transaction and related term sheets, the status of the transaction and anticipated closing, a pro forma view of the resulting equity structure, and pending legal issues faced by the Company. In addition, two other key issues were discussed at length—the need for funding a bridge loan for Protek as required by the agreement and the increasingly probable liquidity issues the Company was facing. In essence, without existing shareholder support, we would be unable to fund the Protek bridge loan, and it was highly likely that the Company would need additional cash for operations before June 1, 2004. While we were anticipating cash from new business, as time went on, the prospects for the attainment of new business by the Company appeared to be increasingly uncertain. The Board authorized management to negotiate with the larger Company investors to see if any would be willing to fund these cash needs and what the terms might be.

During the week of April 19, 2004, representatives of the Company, Quadrangle Capital Partners and Protek met in New York to accelerate the negotiation of the definitive agreements required for the transactions.

On or about April 24, 2004, the Special Committee engaged Thompson Coburn LLP (Thompson Coburn), as separate special counsel, independent from counsel for the Company, to represent it for matters related to the proposed transactions.

During the week of April 26, 2004, representatives of the Company and Quadrangle Capital Partners met in person in New York and by teleconference to negotiate the legal agreements needed for the transactions. In addition, in light of certain financial obligations of the Company in connection with the proposed Merger, it was agreed that the aggregate purchase price to be paid in the Merger and share exchange would be reduced from \$18 million to \$17.2 million. These financial obligations were: a) a financial commitment to the former CEO that the proposed transaction would trigger; b) an expected settlement cost associated with an existing lawsuit carried over from the Abiliti acquisition; and c) the cost of defending the existing shareholder lawsuit associated with the reverse stock split. After representatives of the Company and Quadrangle Capital Partners had reached this agreement on purchase price, extensive discussions followed among the Company s management, the Special Committee, representatives of Behrman Capital and representatives of certain other holders of Series F Preferred Stock, and it was further agreed that the full amount of this purchase price adjustment would be treated as a reduction of the value of the Series F Preferred Stock (including shares held by Behrman Capital and SEF), and that this purchase price reduction therefore would not be applied to the value to be paid in respect of our Common Stock, notwithstanding the fact that the holders of the Series F Preferred Stock were already required to waive a significant Series F Liquidation Preference.

On April 27, 2004, Gordon Quick and Paul Beaumont, Protek s chief executive officer, met with all the partners of Quadrangle to respond to questions posed by Quadrangle partners not directly involved with the transaction.

In addition, on April 27, 2004, the Special Committee met with Thompson Coburn to discuss the Special Committee s role in considering the Merger. Thompson Coburn reviewed the status of the transaction and its principal terms. Representatives from VRC spoke at the meeting, discussing the analysis to be undertaken by it and the scope of a proposed fairness opinion. The Special Committee and Thompson Coburn had extensive discussions regarding the various factors that the Special Committee should consider in reviewing the Merger in view of its fiduciary obligations to the Company s stockholders. Significant factors considered by the Special Committee included the following facts:

The Company s independent accountant s report in the Company s financial statements for the past three years contained going concern qualifications;

The Company s Common Stock had been delisted from the Nasdaq Small Cap Market;

The Company was then in violation of the covenants in its operating loan;

The Company had never reported positive cash flow from operations;

The Company had been informed by its largest customer that it would complete its migration to another billing system by the middle of 2004; and

The Company had been informed by significant potential customers that because of concerns regarding the Company s financial condition and ability to continue to support the Company s products and services, they were not inclined to do business with the Company.

The Special Committee also reviewed the difference between the cash consideration to be paid to holders of Common Stock in the Merger and the recent price at which the Common Stock had been trading on the OTC Bulletin Board, the aggregate liquidation preference of \$49.8 million to which the holders of Series F Preferred Stock were entitled upon a sale of the Company before the holders of Common Stock were entitled to any proceeds, and the extensive unsuccessful efforts of the Company s management to obtain alternate financing or negotiate acquisitions with other companies. Thompson Coburn also reviewed with the Special Committee the interests of certain persons in the Merger that may be different from the Company s stockholders generally. Thompson Coburn then reviewed the process for approving, signing and closing the Merger. The Special Committee discussed various aspects of the proposed transaction but deferred any action on approving it pending further negotiations among representatives of the Company, Behrman Capital, Quadrangle Capital Partners LP and Protek.

On April 30, 2004, the Company held a short Board of Directors meeting to inform the Board of the status of the negotiations and finalization of the documents in preparation for execution.

On May 4, 2004, the Board of Directors met to discuss the status of the negotiation of the transactions. Management informed the Board that Quadrangle had informed the Company that it intended to negotiate directly with Behrman Capital regarding the priority of certain preferred stock to be received by Behrman Capital in the transaction. Management informed the Board that this appeared to be the last major issue to be agreed upon and documented.

On May 4, 2004, representatives of Quadrangle Capital Partners informed representatives of Behrman Capital that, in light of the Company s worse than expected financial performance since the execution of the term sheet, Quadrangle Capital Partners was no longer prepared to (a) permit Behrman Capital and SEF to receive the same class of shares of Daleen Holdings preferred stock in the share exchange that would be issued to Quadrangle Capital Partners and Behrman Capital in respect of their \$30 million investment in Daleen Holdings and (b) accept security other than cash in respect of Behrman Capital s and SEF s indemnification obligations. As a result of negotiations on May 4, 2004, Behrman Capital and SEF agreed that their consideration in the share exchange would consist of \$5 million in value of Series A-1 Convertible Redeemable PIK Preferred Stock, par value \$0.01 per share, that would be junior in rank upon liquidation to the preferred stock issued in the investment transactions, but would otherwise be identical to that preferred stock, with the remaining value of their Series F Preferred Stock to be delivered in Daleen Holdings common stock. In exchange for accepting the Series A-1 Preferred Stock, Behrman Capital and SEF required that their obligations to place Merger consideration in escrow be

limited to the cash proceeds they would otherwise receive in exchange for their shares of Common Stock in connection with the Merger.

On May 5, 2004, the Special Committee met with Thompson Coburn. Thompson Coburn provided an overview of recent developments and principal changes to the terms of the proposed Merger. VRC then made a presentation to the Special Committee of VRC s updated analysis of the proposed Merger. The Special Committee asked questions of VRC, and VRC provided the Special Committee with VRC s opinion that the Merger was fair, from a financial standpoint, to the holders of the Company s Series F Preferred Stock and Common Stock. Thompson Coburn provided an extensive review of interests of certain persons in the Merger which may be different from the Company s stockholders generally. Thompson Coburn then reviewed the Special Committee s fiduciary duties to the Company s stockholders in considering whether to approve the Merger Agreement. The Special Committee held an extensive discussion and, at the conclusion of the meeting, determined that the Merger Agreement and the transactions contemplated by it, including the Merger, were advisable, fair to and in the best interests of the Company and its stockholders, including unaffiliated stockholders, and unanimously voted to recommend that the Company s Board of Directors approve the Merger.

Following the Special Committee meeting on May 5, 2004, the Board of Directors met and, acting upon the recommendation of the Special Committee, unanimously approved the Merger Agreement and the transactions contemplated thereby, including the Merger. In considering the determination of the Special Committee, the Board of Directors believed that the analysis of the Special Committee was reasonable and adopted the Special Committee s conclusion and the analysis underlying its conclusion. During that meeting, the Board of Directors decided to abandon the proposed stock split in order to pursue the Merger Agreement and the related transactions.

Purposes and Reasons for the Merger

Our primary purpose for engaging in the Merger is to provide our unaffiliated stockholders immediate liquidity for their investment in the Company by enabling holders of our Common Stock to receive cash for their shares and holders of our Series F Preferred Stock (other than Behrman Capital and SEF) to have an option to receive cash as a portion of the consideration for their shares. Our management does not believe that we have sufficient cash to continue as a going concern absent a significant investment in the Company. In addition, our independent auditors stated in their report dated February 2, 2004 (which is included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K/A for our fiscal year ended December 31, 2003), that we have suffered recurring losses from operations and have an accumulated deficit of \$214.5 million at December 31, 2003, raising substantial doubt about our ability to continue as a going concern. As described under Consideration of Alternatives, the transactions contemplated by the Merger Agreement represent the only currently available alternative. Additionally, we do not believe that additional alternatives will arise in the future on acceptable terms, if at all.

Shares of our Common Stock have been trading at a relatively low trading volume as a penny stock trading over-the-counter. We believe that this is due to our relatively low market capitalization and share price, the limited number of registered shares and the fact that we have limited cash on hand to enable us to continue operations beyond the immediate future. The Merger will provide unaffiliated holders of our Common Stock with immediate liquidity at a specified price, without the usual transaction costs associated with open market sales. In addition, we believe that obtaining \$0.0384 per share of Common Stock in cash in the Merger, without interest and less any applicable withholding taxes, is preferable to holders of our Common Stock than attempting to achieve a future price in excess of that amount, particularly in light of the likelihood that the Company will not continue as a going concern if the Merger is not completed and of the subordination of the holders of Common Stock to the Series F Liquidation Preference.

The Merger is being undertaken now primarily because we believe that it presents the only viable alternative for the Company at this time, and the associated benefits are not expected to be available to our unaffiliated stockholders, particularly the holders of our Common Stock, as an option in the future. Because we believe it to be unlikely that we will continue as a going concern if the Merger is not

completed, we do not believe that any alternative exists which would provide greater value to holders of our Common Stock. Further, there are currently no other acquisition or financing alternatives for us to consider at any valuation level. For these reasons, we believe that our stockholders will achieve the greatest value for their shares through the implementation of the Merger.

Consideration of Alternatives

This transaction was structured as a Merger in order to provide a prompt and orderly transfer of complete ownership of the Company with reduced transaction costs and minimal risk that the contemplated transaction will not be finalized. Because our current cash position limits our ability to continue as a going concern beyond the immediate future, only alternatives that allow such a prompt completion are viable. We, together with our financial advisor, considered and took preliminary steps to implement various alternatives to the Merger. For instance, we attempted to secure incremental investment in the Company from a combination of existing and new investors. We pursued this alternative aggressively by contacting six existing investors and 39 private equity firms. Only nine of those 45 potential investors expressed any interest at all, and only three went so far as to conduct a thorough analysis of the Company. Two of those three potential investors ultimately declined to make any proposal because of their reservations about a business combination involving the Company. Only the Quadrangle Investors expressed a continued interest in pursuing an investment. The transactions contemplated by the Merger Agreement and described in this proxy statement are the results of our extensive negotiations with the Quadrangle Investors.

We also considered improving our equity structure by pursuing a de-registration of our Common Stock under the Securities Act of 1934, as amended, by effecting a going-private transaction. Through de-registration, we believed that we could reduce our costs and hopefully demonstrate continued progress toward profitability, making the Company a more attractive candidate for potential investors or business combinations. In January 2004, our Board of Directors approved a proposed one-for-500 reverse stock split, and we filed with the SEC a preliminary proxy statement seeking stockholder approval of the proposed reverse stock split. As negotiations with the Quadrangle Investors continued successfully, our Board of Directors abandoned the proposed reverse stock split in order to pursue the Quadrangle investment.

In the course of our negotiations with the Quadrangle Investors and the other parties to the Merger Agreement, no other acquisition or financing alternatives for the Company arose on any terms at all. Because of our limited cash on hand to sustain operations in the absence of an investment in the Company, our Board of Directors determined that the Merger and the other transactions contemplated by the Merger Agreement will allow our stockholders to achieve the highest possible value and represent the only likely alternative in which holders of our Common Stock will receive any value for their shares.

Structure of the Merger

The transaction has been structured as a merger of Parallel Acquisition with and into the Company in order to permit the prompt acquisition of the Company in a single step that would still preserve our corporate identity. The Merger was structured to include the aggregate consideration described in this proxy statement for holders of our Common Stock and Series F Preferred Stock as it represented the highest value Quadrangle Capital Partners indicated that they were willing to pay for the Company in the Merger and related transactions following extensive negotiations among us, Behrman Capital, Quadrangle Capital Partners and our and their respective legal and financial advisors.

Recommendation of the Special Committee and the Board of Directors

Certain of our directors and executive officers may have financial and other interests that may be different from, and in addition to, your interests in the Merger. As a result, our Board of Directors decided that, in order to protect the interests of our stockholders, including unaffiliated stockholders, in evaluating the Merger and the terms of the Merger Agreement, a Special Committee of non-employee directors not affiliated with Behrman Capital should be formed to perform that task and, if they deemed it to be

appropriate, to recommend the Merger and the terms of the Merger Agreement to the entire Board of Directors. The Special Committee consisted of Messrs. John McCarthy, Daniel Foreman and Stephen Getsy. Mr. McCarthy beneficially owns shares of both our Common Stock and our Series F Preferred Stock, and also may indirectly benefit from a fee of \$200,000 payable to TRV Management upon completion of the Merger, as further described under the section Special Factors Interests of Certain Parties. The Board of Directors determined that, based on the absence of a relationship between Mr. McCarthy and Behrman Capital, the amount of the indirect benefit he may receive from the fee, the value of Mr. McCarthy s direct and indirect ownership in the Company and Mr. McCarthy s experience in serving on boards of directors of similar companies, he was qualified to serve on the Special Committee. Mr. McCarthy was not encouraged to waive the indirect benefit he may receive from the fee because the advisory services provided by Mr. McCarthy in conjunction with TRV Management was outside the scope of his service as a director of the Company, the Company had entered into an agreement in February 2003 to pay the fee to TRV Management and because, for the reasons stated above, the Special Committee did not believe that the payment of the fee disqualified Mr. McCarthy from serving on the special committee. Messrs. Getsy and Foreman each are affiliates of entities that beneficially own our Common Stock. The Special Committee retained Thompson Coburn LLP as its separate legal counsel.

The Special Committee has unanimously determined that the terms of the Merger Agreement and the Merger are advisable, fair to and in our best interests and in the best interests of our stockholders, including unaffiliated stockholders. The Special Committee unanimously recommended to our Board of Directors that the Merger Agreement and the Merger be approved and adopted. The Special Committee considered a number of factors in reaching its determinations and recommendations as more fully described below.

Our Board of Directors, including all of our non-employee directors, acting upon the recommendation of the Special Committee, unanimously determined that the Merger Agreement and the transactions contemplated thereby, including the Merger, are advisable, fair to and in the best interests of us and our stockholders, including unaffiliated stockholders. On the basis of the foregoing, our Board of Directors has unanimously approved the Merger Agreement and the Merger, and recommends that our stockholders vote to approve and adopt the Merger Agreement. The recommendation of our Board of Directors was made after consideration of all the material factors, both positive and negative, as described below.

Reasons for the Special Committee s Determination; Fairness of the Merger

In determining the fairness of the Merger and recommending adoption and approval of the Merger Agreement and approval of the Merger to our Board of Directors, the Special Committee considered a number of factors which, in the opinion of the members of the Special Committee, supported the Special Committee s recommendation, including:

the Special Committee s knowledge of our business, assets, financial condition and results of operations, our competitive position, the nature of our business and the industry in which we compete, and the lack of affiliation of the Special Committee s members with Behrman Capital, which the Special Committee believes qualifies the Special Committee to evaluate the Merger and make a recommendation to our Board of Directors regarding the advisability and fairness of the Merger to our stockholders and us;

the Special Committee s determination that, following extensive negotiations between us and Quadrangle Capital Partners, the aggregate consideration offered to our stockholders in the Merger and related share exchange was the highest price that Quadrangle Capital Partners indicated they were willing to pay for the Company in the Merger and related transactions, with the Special Committee basing its belief on a number of factors, including the duration and tenor of negotiations, assertions made by Quadrangle Capital Partners during the negotiation process and the experience of the Special Committee and its advisors;

the financial presentation of VRC to the Special Committee on May 5, 2004, including VRC $\,$ s opinion that the merger consideration is fair, from a financial point of view, and as of May 5, 2004,

to our stockholders, as described in the VRC opinion and the analyses presented to the Special Committee by VRC on May 5, 2004, which are described in more detail in this proxy statement under the heading Opinion of Valuation Research Corporation;

the fact that all of the merger consideration paid in respect of shares of our Common Stock will be paid in cash, with holders of Series F Preferred Stock having an option to receive part of the merger consideration paid with respect to those shares in cash, decreasing any uncertainties in valuing the merger consideration to be received by our stockholders;

the fact that, under the terms of the Merger Agreement, our Board of Directors is entitled, if it determines after consultation with independent legal counsel that doing so is necessary to comply with its fiduciary duties to our stockholders under applicable law, subject to the taking of certain actions, to furnish information to, or enter into discussions or negotiations with, any person or entity that makes an unsolicited, bona fide written proposal for a competing transaction meeting certain criteria if our Board of Directors determines in good faith, based on a written opinion of a nationally recognized financial advisor, that the competing transaction is reasonably likely to be more favorable to our stockholders from a financial point of view than the transactions contemplated by the Merger Agreement, thereby allowing our Board of Directors to pursue a competing transaction that is presented to it after signing the Merger Agreement if the transaction is reasonably likely to be more favorable to our stockholders from a financial point of view;